IAEA Nuclear Energy Series







IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES PUBLICATIONS

STRUCTURE OF THE IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES

Under the terms of Articles III.A and VIII.C of its Statute, the IAEA is authorized to foster the exchange of scientific and technical information on the peaceful uses of atomic energy. The publications in the **IAEA Nuclear Energy Series** provide information in the areas of nuclear power, nuclear fuel cycle, radioactive waste management and decommissioning, and on general issues that are relevant to all of the above mentioned areas. The structure of the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series comprises three levels: 1 - Basic Principles and Objectives; 2 - Guides; and 3 - Technical Reports.

The **Nuclear Energy Basic Principles** publication describes the rationale and vision for the peaceful uses of nuclear energy.

Nuclear Energy Series Objectives publications explain the expectations to be met in various areas at different stages of implementation.

Nuclear Energy Series Guides provide high level guidance on how to achieve the objectives related to the various topics and areas involving the peaceful uses of nuclear energy.

Nuclear Energy Series Technical Reports provide additional, more detailed information on activities related to the various areas dealt with in the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series.

The IAEA Nuclear Energy Series publications are coded as follows: NG – general; NP – nuclear power; NF – nuclear fuel; NW – radioactive waste management and decommissioning. In addition, the publications are available in English on the IAEA Internet site:

http://www.iaea.org/Publications/index.html

For further information, please contact the IAEA at PO Box 100, Vienna International Centre, 1400 Vienna, Austria.

All users of the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series publications are invited to inform the IAEA of experience in their use for the purpose of ensuring that they continue to meet user needs. Information may be provided via the IAEA Internet site, by post, at the address given above, or by email to Official.Mail@iaea.org.

INTERNATIONAL SAFEGUARDS IN THE DESIGN OF NUCLEAR REACTORS

The following States are Members of the International Atomic Energy Agency:

AFGHANISTAN ALBANIA ALGERIA ANGOLA ARGENTINA ARMENIA AUSTRALIA AUSTRIA AZERBAIJAN BAHAMAS BAHRAIN BANGLADESH **BELARUS** BELGIUM BELIZE BENIN BOLIVIA BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA BOTSWANA BRAZIL **BRUNEI DARUSSALAM** BULGARIA **BURKINA FASO** BURUNDI CAMBODIA CAMEROON CANADA CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC CHAD CHILE CHINA **COLOMBIA** CONGO COSTA RICA CÔTE D'IVOIRE CROATIA **CUBA CYPRUS** CZECH REPUBLIC DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO DENMARK DOMINICA DOMINICAN REPUBLIC ECUADOR EGYPT EL SALVADOR ERITREA **ESTONIA ETHIOPIA** FIJI **FINLAND** FRANCE GABON GEORGIA GERMANY

GHANA GREECE **GUATEMALA** HAITI HOLY SEE HONDURAS HUNGARY **ICELAND** INDIA **INDONESIA** IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAQ **IRELAND** ISRAEL ITALY JAMAICA JAPAN **JORDAN KAZAKHSTAN KENYA** KOREA, REPUBLIC OF **KUWAIT KYRGYZSTAN** LAO PEOPLE'S DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC LATVIA LEBANON LESOTHO LIBERIA LIBYA LIECHTENSTEIN LITHUANIA LUXEMBOURG MADAGASCAR MALAWI MALAYSIA MALI MALTA MARSHALL ISLANDS MAURITANIA MAURITIUS MEXICO MONACO MONGOLIA MONTENEGRO MOROCCO MOZAMBIQUE MYANMAR NAMIBIA NEPAL **NETHERLANDS** NEW ZEALAND NICARAGUA NIGER NIGERIA NORWAY OMAN

PAKISTAN PALAU PANAMA PAPUA NEW GUINEA PARAGUAY PERU PHILIPPINES POLAND PORTUGAL QATAR REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA ROMANIA RUSSIAN FEDERATION RWANDA SAN MARINO SAUDI ARABIA SENEGAL SERBIA SEYCHELLES SIERRA LEONE SINGAPORE **SLOVAKIA SLOVENIA** SOUTH AFRICA SPAIN SRI LANKA **SUDAN SWAZILAND SWEDEN** SWITZERLAND SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC TAJIKISTAN THAILAND THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA TOGO TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO TUNISIA TURKEY UGANDA UKRAINE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA URUGUAY **UZBEKISTAN VENEZUELA** VIET NAM YEMEN ZAMBIA ZIMBABWE

The Agency's Statute was approved on 23 October 1956 by the Conference on the Statute of the IAEA held at United Nations Headquarters, New York; it entered into force on 29 July 1957. The Headquarters of the Agency are situated in Vienna. Its principal objective is "to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world".

IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES No. NP-T-2.9

INTERNATIONAL SAFEGUARDS IN THE DESIGN OF NUCLEAR REACTORS

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 2014

COPYRIGHT NOTICE

All IAEA scientific and technical publications are protected by the terms of the Universal Copyright Convention as adopted in 1952 (Berne) and as revised in 1972 (Paris). The copyright has since been extended by the World Intellectual Property Organization (Geneva) to include electronic and virtual intellectual property. Permission to use whole or parts of texts contained in IAEA publications in printed or electronic form must be obtained and is usually subject to royalty agreements. Proposals for non-commercial reproductions and translations are welcomed and considered on a case-by-case basis. Enquiries should be addressed to the IAEA Publishing Section at:

Marketing and Sales Unit, Publishing Section International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna International Centre PO Box 100 1400 Vienna, Austria fax: +43 1 2600 29302 tel.: +43 1 2600 22417 email: sales.publications@iaea.org http://www.iaea.org/books

© IAEA, 2014

Printed by the IAEA in Austria August 2014 STI/PUB/1669

IAEA Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

International safeguards in the design of nuclear reactors. — Vienna : International Atomic Energy Agency, 2014. p. ; 30 cm. — (IAEA nuclear energy series, ISSN 1995–7807 ; no. NP-T-2.9) STI/PUB/1669 ISBN 978–92–0–106514–8 Includes bibliographical references.

1. Nuclear reactors — Design and construction. 2. Nuclear reactors — Safety measures. 3. Nuclear power plants — Design and construction — Safety measures. I. International Atomic Energy Agency. II. Series.

IAEAL

FOREWORD

One of the IAEA's statutory objectives is to "seek to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world." One way this objective is achieved is through the publication of a range of technical series. Two of these are the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series and the IAEA Safety Standards Series.

According to Article III.A.6 of the IAEA Statute, the safety standards establish "standards of safety for protection of health and minimization of danger to life and property". The safety standards include the Safety Fundamentals, Safety Requirements and Safety Guides. These standards are written primarily in a regulatory style, and are binding on the IAEA for its own programmes. The principal users are the regulatory bodies in Member States and other national authorities.

The IAEA Nuclear Energy Series comprises reports designed to encourage and assist R&D on, and application of, nuclear energy for peaceful uses. This includes practical examples to be used by owners and operators of utilities in Member States, implementing organizations, academia, and government officials, among others. This information is presented in guides, reports on technology status and advances, and best practices for peaceful uses of nuclear energy based on inputs from international experts. The IAEA Nuclear Energy Series complements the IAEA Safety Standards Series.

This publication, is principally intended for designers and operators of nuclear reactor facilities; however, vendors, national authorities and financial backers can also benefit from the information provided. It is introductory rather than comprehensive in nature, complementing the Guidance for Implementing Comprehensive Safeguards Agreements and Additional Protocols, IAEA Services Series No. 21, and other publications in that series. This guidance will be one in a series of facility specific safeguards by design guidance publications that complement the general considerations addressed in the publication International Safeguards in Nuclear Facility Design and Construction, Nuclear Energy Series No. NP-T-2.8.

Safeguards by design is the process of including the consideration of international safeguards throughout all phases of a nuclear facility project, from the initial conceptual design to facility construction and into operations, including design modifications and decommissioning. The 'by design' concept encompasses the idea of preparing for the implementation of safeguards in the management of the project during all of these stages. Safeguards by design does not introduce new requirements but rather presents an opportunity to facilitate the cost effective implementation of existing requirements.

IAEA safeguards are a central part of international efforts to stem the spread of nuclear weapons. In implementing safeguards, the IAEA plays an independent verification role, which is essential for ensuring that States' safeguards obligations are fulfilled. A great majority of the world's States have concluded comprehensive safeguards agreements with the IAEA pursuant to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons that detail these obligations, and many have also signed a protocol additional to that agreement.

It is in the interest of both States and the IAEA to cooperate to facilitate the implementation of safeguards, as this cooperation is explicitly required under comprehensive safeguards agreements. In addition, effective cooperation between States, the IAEA and other stakeholders can facilitate a more cost effective and efficient implementation of safeguards that also minimizes the impact on nuclear facility operations. To this end, this guidance is intended to increase understanding of the safeguards obligations of both the State and the IAEA and, as a result, improve safeguards implementation at a reduced cost to all parties.

The IAEA gratefully acknowledges the assistance received through the Member State Support Programmes to IAEA safeguards from Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, China, Finland, France, Germany, Japan, the Republic of Korea, the United Kingdom, the United States of America and the European Commission in the preparation of this report. The safeguards related information in this publication has been reviewed by the IAEA Department of Safeguards. The technical officers responsible for this report were J. Sprinkle of the Division of Concepts and Planning and D. Kovacic and M. Van Sickle of the Division of Nuclear Power.

EDITORIAL NOTE

This report does not address questions of responsibility, legal or otherwise, for acts or omissions on the part of any person. Although great care has been taken to maintain the accuracy of information contained in this publication, neither the IAEA nor its Member States assume any responsibility for consequences which may arise from its use.

The mention of names of specific companies or products (whether or not indicated as registered) does not imply any intention to infringe proprietary rights, nor should it be construed as an endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

The authors are responsible for having obtained the necessary permission for the IAEA to reproduce, translate or use material from sources already protected by copyrights.

Material prepared by authors who are in contractual relation with governments is copyrighted by the IAEA, as publisher, only to the extent permitted by the appropriate national regulations.

This publication has been prepared from the original material as submitted by the authors. The views expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the IAEA, the governments of the nominating Member States or the nominating organizations.

The IAEA has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third party Internet web sites referred to in this book and does not guarantee that any content on such web sites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION				
	1.1.	Background 1			
	1.2.	j			
		Scope			
		Other safeguards related resources			
	1.5.	Structure			
2.	OVE	RVIEW OF IAEA SAFEGUARDS 4			
	2.1.	IAEA safeguards			
	2.2.	Safeguards measures			
	2.3.	Diversion, misuse and undeclared activities			
		Verification			
	2.5.	Facility physical infrastructure requirements for IAEA safeguards activities. 10			
3.	STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION. 11				
	3.1.	Stakeholders			
		3.1.1. Designers and vendors			
		3.1.2. Project manager			
		3.1.3. Operators			
		3.1.4. State or regional safeguards authority 11			
		Safeguards concerns at stages of design 11			
	3.3.	Project life cycle cost evolution			
4.	SAFEGUARDS CONSIDERATIONS RELATED TO				
	REA	CTOR DESIGN			
	4.1.	Misuse/diversion scenarios			
	4.2.	General guidance 18			
	4.3.	Specific locations within a reactor			
		4.3.1. Shipping/receiving area			
		4.3.2. Fresh fuel storage			
		4.3.3. Spent fuel storage			
		4.3.4. Core			
		4.3.5. Fuel transfer chambers			
	4.4.	Decommissioning			
5.	CON	SIDERATIONS RELATED TO REACTOR VARIATIONS			
	5.1.	Modular reactors			
	5.2.	On load refuelled reactors			
	5.3.	Pebble bed and prismatic fuelled HTGRs 25			
		5.3.1. Pebble fuelled HTGRs			
		5.3.2. Prismatic fuelled HTGRs			
	5.4.	MOX fuelled LWRs. 27			
	5.5.	Research reactors and critical assemblies			
	5.6.	Next generation technology. 28			
	5.7.	Generation IV liquid fuelled (molten salt) reactors			
	5.8.	Fast reactors. 29			

REFERENCES	31
BIBLIOGRAPHY	33
ABBREVIATIONS	35
ANNEX I: TERMINOLOGY	37
ANNEX II: DIQ INFORMATION	40
ANNEX III: IDENTIFYING SAFEGUARDABILITY ISSUES.	42
ANNEX IV: MATRIX OF SAFEGUARDS DETAILS FOR CONSIDERATION	44
CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW.	47
STRUCTURE OF THE IAEA NUCLEAR ENERGY SERIES	50

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. BACKGROUND

The IAEA works to enhance the contribution of nuclear energy to peace and prosperity around the world, while helping to ensure that nuclear material is not diverted to be used in nuclear weapons or other explosive devices. This publication is part of an IAEA guidance series developed to assist facility designers and operators in the consideration of international nuclear material safeguards. International safeguards provide for independent verification by the IAEA that States are complying with their obligations in relation to nuclear material and activities. It is widely recognized that establishing and maintaining effective national controls on nuclear material and activities is not only a legal obligation under the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, but is also in the national interest of each State. Nuclear material is one of the more expensive assets in a nuclear facility and accounting for and keeping control of expensive assets is a recognized business practice. A State lacking control of nuclear material and activities risks becoming the target of actors involved in the proliferation of weapons technology or in clandestine nuclear related activities, as well as risking suffering financial losses owing to a loss of nuclear material.

This guidance is applicable to the design and construction of nuclear power reactors, such as the one shown in Fig. 1, as well as to research reactors. It complements the general considerations addressed in International Safeguards in Nuclear Facility Design and Construction [1] and is written primarily for nuclear reactor designers and operators. This guidance is written at an introductory level for an audience unfamiliar with international safeguards and has no legal status. Any State may incorporate elements of this guidance into its regulatory framework, as it deems appropriate. For official guidance on international safeguards implementation, the reader can refer to IAEA information circulars (INFCIRCs) available from the IAEA web site and they can contact the relevant safeguards authorities at the IAEA or in the State.



FIG. 1. Obrigheim Nuclear Power Plant, Germany (photograph courtesy of Siemens AG).

Safeguards by design (SBD) is defined as the process of including international safeguards considerations throughout all phases of a nuclear facility life cycle; from the initial conceptual design to facility construction and into operations, including design modifications and decommissioning. Good systems engineering practice requires the inclusion of all relevant requirements early in the design process to optimize the system to perform effectively at the lowest cost and minimum risk [2]. SBD has two main objectives: (1) to avoid costly and time consuming retrofits or redesigns of new nuclear facilities to accommodate safeguards and (2) to make the implementation of international safeguards more effective and efficient at such facilities for the operator, the State and the IAEA [3, 4]. SBD seeks to reduce the impact of safeguards on the design and construction cost and schedule, to mitigate the potential for negative impact on facility licensing (e.g. if retrofits are required for international safeguards purposes after successful licensing action, will those retrofits affect the licence?) and to help build public confidence.

Safeguards should be considered early in the design so that potential accommodations can be better integrated with other design considerations such as those for operations, safety and security. In the IAEA publication Governmental, Legal and Regulatory Framework for Safety [5], Requirement 12 (Interfaces of safety with nuclear security and with the State system of accounting for, and control of, nuclear material) states:

"The government shall ensure that, within the governmental and legal framework, adequate infrastructural arrangements are established for interfaces of safety with arrangements for nuclear security and with the State system of accounting for and control of nuclear material."

Considerations of safety, security and safeguards are essential elements of the design, construction, commissioning, operation and decommissioning stages of nuclear power plants, as discussed in the IAEA Nuclear Security and IAEA Nuclear Safety publication series. The trend is for new plants to be built with inherent safety and security features as well as accommodations for safeguards as expressed in the Nuclear Power Plant Exporters' Principles of Conduct [6]. A new publication, Safety of Nuclear Power Plants: Design [7], contains a requirement, Requirement 8 (Interfaces of safety with security and safeguards), which states that:

"Safety measures, nuclear security measures and arrangements for the State system of accounting for, and control of, nuclear material for a nuclear power plant shall be designed and implemented in an integrated manner so that they do not compromise one another."

The implementation of SBD is at its core a dialogue, not a set of specifications. SBD is not a new legal requirement. It is a voluntary process to facilitate the improved implementation of existing safeguards requirements¹ (GOV/2554/Att.2/Rev.2 and INFCIRC/153 are discussed in Ref. [8]), providing an opportunity for stakeholders to work together to build international confidence and to reduce the potential of unforeseen impacts on nuclear facility operators during the construction, startup and operation of new facilities. SBD should not be confused with good safeguards design alone, but rather it enhances design by early inclusion of safeguards in the facility project management. As such, cooperation on safeguards implementation is improved when (a) the designer, vendor and operator understand the basics of safeguards and (b) the safeguards experts understand the basics of the facility operations.

Safeguards implementation is always evolving; in particular, the intensity with which safeguards measures are applied can vary. One might reasonably expect more change in the frequency and duration of inspections than changes in the activities during inspections. From a design perspective, there is value in understanding the full range of potential safeguards activities and their impact on the facility design before design choices are fixed. In addition, early planning can incorporate flexibility into the facility's safeguards infrastructure, facilitating safeguards innovations. This flexibility will chiefly benefit the owner and operator of the nuclear reactor after the design process is complete, so it is in their interest to be an active participant in this process as early as is feasible.

Safeguards may be a little known area for some designers and vendors. However, they might have an interest in SBD because a design that facilitates the incorporation of international safeguards requirements is likely to be more appealing to a customer in a State where safeguards are obligatory. Meanwhile, the operator is ultimately responsible for IAEA safeguards implementation within the facility and having a facility that includes features facilitating safeguards requirements can potentially make safeguards cost less and have reduced impact on operations at that facility (e.g. the potential for fewer inspection days for physical inventory taking and verification). Depending on the project need, the SBD effort can range from better implementation of a known safeguards approach to a diversion pathway assessment.

Historically, safeguards have been retrofitted into existing facilities and safeguards requirements have been applied late in the design-build-operation process, thus possibly leading to a perception that safeguards are beyond the scope of the facility design team. However, when safeguards requirements are addressed early in a project, the IAEA estimates that the implementation cost can be as small as 0.1% of the capital cost of a nuclear power plant. Without adequate planning and preparation, not only can the cost be significantly more, but the disruption to the

¹ Note that, in States with a comprehensive safeguards agreement in force, preliminary design information for new nuclear facilities and activities, and for any modifications to existing facilities, must be submitted to the Agency as soon as the decision to construct or to authorize construction, or to modify, has been taken.

construction and licensing process can also be significant. Involving the design-build-operation teams in the SBD process carries the potential benefits of:

- Increasing awareness of safeguards for all stakeholders;
- Reducing inefficiencies in the IAEA's safeguards activities;
- Improving safeguards implementation;
- Facilitating the consideration of joint use of equipment by the operator and inspectorate²;
- Reducing operator burden for safeguards;
- Reducing the need to retrofit for installation of equipment;
- Increasing flexibility for future equipment installation.

1.2. OBJECTIVE

This publication is part of a series being prepared to help inform designers, governments and the public about nuclear material safeguards. It provides information regarding the implementation of international safeguards that States, operators or other entities may take into consideration when planning new nuclear facilities. Proper implementation during construction will facilitate the safeguards activities required during the subsequent facility operation and decommissioning. This publication includes experience gained in past efforts to incorporate safeguards requirements in the facility design which can be useful in future efforts to build or operate nuclear facilities.

1.3. SCOPE

This publication was written to support the consideration of safeguards in the design of nuclear reactors. It is primarily for reactor designers and operators, although vendors, regulators and other stakeholders may also benefit from the guidance provided. It is directed at the baseline case of light water reactor (LWR) facilities; however, additional reactor types and variations are discussed in Section 5. The scope encompasses fresh fuel receipts at the reactor site and the on-site storage of irradiated fuel.

1.4. OTHER SAFEGUARDS RELATED RESOURCES

Other reference material can help provide States and interested stakeholders with an overview and background information on international safeguards. The IAEA web site has links to:

- Guidance for States Implementing Safeguards Agreements and Additional Protocols [8];
- The Safeguards Glossary [9];
- The Safeguards System of the International Atomic Energy Agency [10];
- Other material of general interest.

Additional resources are suggested in the Bibliography at the end of this publication.

1.5. STRUCTURE

Section 2 has a brief introduction to IAEA safeguards while Section 3 describes an approach for stakeholder interactions and integrating the consideration of safeguards into the design and construction process. Section 4 contains guidance for LWRs, much of which is applicable to all reactors. Section 5 contains additional guidance for other reactor types.

² In this publication, inspectorate includes the IAEA, State and regional safeguards authorities.

Annex I contains specialized terminology used by the international safeguards community [9]. Annex II summarizes the information in a design information questionnaire. Annex III summarizes a questionnaire to assess the safeguardability of a nuclear facility design. Annex IV presents a matrix of safeguards considerations that is available from the Division of Concepts and Planning in the IAEA Department of Safeguards as a Microsoft Excel file.

2. OVERVIEW OF IAEA SAFEGUARDS

A basic understanding of IAEA objectives and activities can facilitate the consideration of international safeguards in nuclear facility design and construction. This section provides a brief overview of IAEA safeguards; more detailed information is available in Refs [8–11] and on the IAEA web site.

2.1. IAEA SAFEGUARDS

Pursuant to the IAEA's authority to apply safeguards stemming from Article III.A.5 of its Statute, the IAEA concludes agreements with States and with regional safeguards authorities for the application of safeguards. These agreements are of three main types: (1) comprehensive safeguards agreements (CSAs), (2) item specific safeguards agreements and (3) voluntary offer agreements. A State with any one of these agreements may also conclude a protocol³ additional to its safeguards agreement [8]. Most safeguards agreements in force are CSAs and this publication focuses on those. A CSA requires safeguards to be applied to all nuclear material in all facilities and other locations in a State.

Safeguards implementation continually evolves to address new challenges, to incorporate lessons learned and to take advantage of new technologies and techniques. Since the early 1990s, safeguards has evolved to take advantage of increased information available to the IAEA about a State's nuclear program and related activities. Where the IAEA used to implement more or less identical safeguards approaches at facilities of the same type, now safeguards are customized for an individual State based on its fuel cycle and other factors.

To ensure an overall non-discriminatory approach to all States, the following three State level safeguards objectives apply to all States with a CSA:

- To detect undeclared nuclear material or activities in the State as a whole;
- To detect undeclared production or processing of nuclear material in declared facilities or locations outside facilities;
- To detect diversion of declared nuclear material in declared facilities or locations outside facilities.

To achieve these State level objectives, underlying technical objectives are established for each State. These technical objectives are based on a comprehensive analysis of how a particular State could divert, produce and/or import nuclear material for a nuclear weapon. Such technical objectives may differ between States, depending on their nuclear activities, capabilities or other State specific factors. Safeguards measures to achieve these technical objectives are identified. The acquisition path analysis, technical objectives and safeguards measures to achieve these objectives are documented in a State level approach for each State with a CSA. While nuclear material accountancy at nuclear facilities remains fundamental, the use of other information relevant to safeguards means that safeguards at similar facility types may differ from State to State, as well as from facility to facility within the same State. Therefore, no single specification exists for safeguards implementation.

³ INFCIRC/540 (Corrected), Model Protocol Additional to the Agreement(s) between State(s) and the International Atomic Energy Agency for the Application of Safeguards.

2.2. SAFEGUARDS MEASURES

The intensity of safeguards measures chosen by the IAEA will evolve over time, and will be adjusted and maintained by the IAEA Department of Safeguards. In general terms, the safeguards activities performed will verify the State's declarations about nuclear material quantities, locations and movements at that facility.

Safeguards techniques and measures used by the IAEA can include:

- On-site inspections by IAEA inspectors [12];
- Material balance areas (MBAs) for nuclear material accounting [11];
- Key measurement points for measuring flow and inventories of nuclear material [11];
- Unique identifiers for nuclear material items;
- Locations for surveillance, containment and monitoring and other verification measures;
- Nuclear material measurements [11, 13, 14];
- Review of operating records and State reports;
- Annual physical inventory verification (PIV), generally performed during facility shutdown;
- Routine interim inventory verifications (monthly, quarterly, annual or random);
- Verification of transfers of nuclear material to and from the site;
- Statistical assessment of the nuclear material balance to evaluate material unaccounted for;
- Reactor power monitoring;
- Verification of facility design for features relevant to safeguards;
- Verification of the performance of the operator's measurement system.

These activities are not of equal importance. Additional information can be found in the most recent edition of IAEA Safeguards Techniques and Equipment, currently Ref. [14].

Additional activities have been found useful to detect and deter undeclared nuclear material or activities. For example, the IAEA can use short notice random and unannounced inspections⁴ to optimize resource allocation while maintaining safeguards effectiveness. It also uses unattended monitoring to verify activities that occur when the inspector is not present on-site. In addition, 117 States⁵ with CSAs have brought an additional protocol into force, which defines activities — in addition to those implemented under their safeguards agreement — useful for verifying the completeness of the State's declarations to the IAEA. *Familiarity with the processes, layout, equipment and other characteristics of a given nuclear facility is essential for developing and maintaining an optimal safeguards approach, and the designer can facilitate IAEA familiarization activities.*

It is important for the IAEA to verify these features relevant to safeguards before taking them into account. The IAEA can use facility design information to:

- Select strategic points for determining nuclear material flows and inventory.
- Select measurement points and methods.
- Select surveillance, containment and monitoring locations and methods.
- Establish recording and reporting requirements.
- Develop a design information verification plan.
- Establish a site specific list of items (equipment, systems and structures) essential for the declared operation
 of the facility (a safeguards essential equipment list).
- Assess whether the facility is being used to full capacity.
- Provisional design information can be provided to the IAEA before a decision takes place to construct a nuclear facility and can be revised as the design becomes more detailed [1, 8].

One can specify when the information is provided which information is conceptual, which is preliminary, and which is understood to be fixed. Annex II lists a summary of the type of information provided to the IAEA in a design information questionnaire (DIQ).

⁴ Short notice random and unannounced inspections are explained in Annex 1: Terminology.

⁵ As of 22 November 2013.

For nuclear material accountancy, one or more nuclear MBAs will be established. By definition, an MBA is an area where (a) the quantity of nuclear material in each transfer into or out of the MBA can be determined and (b) the physical inventory of nuclear material can be determined. The operator's and the IAEA's MBA boundaries do not have to be identical; however, the verification activities might be simpler if they are. The nuclear material in an MBA is characterized as either direct use material (i.e. nuclear material that can be used for the manufacture of nuclear explosive devices without further transmutation or enrichment), or indirect use material (i.e. all other nuclear material), or a combination of both. IAEA verification activities are typically more intensive for direct use material.

The IAEA distinguishes between 'item' and 'bulk handing' facilities. In 'item' facilities, the nuclear material is contained in discrete items (not designed to be opened) such as fuel rods or fuel assemblies in a typical LWR. In 'bulk handling' facilities, the nuclear material is handled in loose form and can be repackaged with the possibility of combining or splitting up the quantity of nuclear material in containers, and also of changing the chemical or physical form of the nuclear material. Different safeguards measures are applicable to the verification of items and bulk materials. IAEA verification activities at bulk facilities are generally more intensive [11].

2.3. DIVERSION, MISUSE AND UNDECLARED ACTIVITIES

In an acquisition path analysis, the IAEA considers all potential means that a State can use to acquire unirradiated direct use nuclear material to subsequently manufacture a nuclear explosive device. This analysis takes the existing nuclear capabilities of the State into account and how these capabilities can be complemented, misused or diverted to enable the production of weapons useable material. The analysis will assume the possibility of undeclared nuclear material and activities. Other relevant information about a State is also analysed and safeguards measures are implemented to detect the diversion of declared nuclear material and undeclared activities.

The IAEA considers two types of diversion: abrupt and protracted. In an abrupt diversion scenario, the IAEA assumes that a large quantity of nuclear material is removed in one batch from one location. In a protracted diversion, the removal occurs over a long period, perhaps more than a year, and can be a continuous flow, intermittent or even taken from different locations.

2.4. VERIFICATION

IAEA verification activities at a facility fall into two broad categories — verification of design information and verification of the accountancy system. Figure 2 shows inspectors becoming familiar with a facility as part of a design verification exercise.



FIG. 2. IAEA design verification.

Updated facility design information is to be provided for any changes relevant to safeguards in operating conditions throughout the facility life cycle. The IAEA verifies this information through on-site physical examination of the facility during the construction and subsequent phases of the facility's life cycle. During a typical early design information verification at a reactor, IAEA inspectors can be on-site to inspect and photograph the concrete forms prior to the concrete pour. In later design information verifications, they can walk through the facility with detailed building plans to confirm the as-built design and to look for design features not shown on the drawings. The IAEA can also verify the design and capacity of any processing equipment and systems in the reactor facility. As part of this design and capacity assessment, it is important for the IAEA to verify the maximum capacity of the plant, which includes verifying the limitations on possible misuse. In addition, the IAEA will develop an 'essential equipment' list for the nuclear facility to help monitor whether the facility is in an 'unable to operate' status. The designers of the facility can play a valuable role helping to identify the equipment essential for operating the nuclear facility.⁶

One of the main purposes in the verification of nuclear material accountancy [11] is to evaluate the facility's records in order to detect any diversion of nuclear material from declared activities. One activity undertaken by the IAEA is the annual PIV during which the physical contents of the facility (consisting of the actual nuclear material items) are compared with the nuclear material accounting records. Figure 3 illustrates a PIV exercise in a reactor's fresh fuel storage area.



FIG. 3. PIV exercise in fresh fuel store.

Verification of nuclear material accountancy can include assessment of the operator's measurement systems including their measurement uncertainties. Given resource limitations and the need to minimize impeding facility operations, statistical sampling is often used in the verification of a facility measurement system. Items are selected at random and verified by a number of measurement methods. These methods can include item counting or either qualitative or quantitative measurements. The IAEA makes use of several categories of measurements. Three of general interest to designers are measurements that detect gross, partial or bias defects in the declared quantity of nuclear material [9].

- Gross defect refers to an item or batch that has been falsified to the maximum extent possible, so that all or most of the declared material is missing.
- Partial defect refers to an item or batch that has been falsified to such an extent that some fraction of the declared amount of material is actually present.
- Bias defect refers to an item or batch that has been slightly falsified so that only a small fraction of the declared material is missing.

⁶ The IAEA *safeguards* essential equipment list is different from the *safety* essential equipment list.

The IAEA can perform gross defect measurements on fresh or irradiated fuel at a reactor. It can perform item counting and identification checks, or it can apply gross defect measurements to irradiated fuel when it is transferred. Figure 4 shows verification measurements of fresh fuel in their shipping containers at the reactor.



FIG. 4. Verification of fresh fuel transport containers using a hand-held HM-5 gamma monitor [14].

Figure 5 shows measurements of irradiated fuel (irradiated direct use material) in the reactor spent fuel storage pond. For an item facility such as a reactor, differences between the physical inventory and the accounting records are generally investigated by means other than statistical evaluation of measurement errors, e.g. by investigating the completeness and correctness of facility records. Provision can be made in the design and in operations to facilitate the controlling and verifying of the quantities, locations and movements of the nuclear material.



FIG. 5. An irradiated fuel measurement in a spent fuel pond [14].

Surveillance, containment and monitoring measures supplement the nuclear material accountancy measures by providing means to detect undeclared access to, or movement of, nuclear material or safeguards equipment. Containment refers to the structural components that make undetected access difficult. Seals are tamper indicating devices used to secure penetrations in containment thereby preventing undetected access. Surveillance is the collection of optical or radiation information through human and instrument observation/monitoring. During inspections, inspectors can examine the surveillance, containment and monitoring systems, including relevant facility design features, as part of verifying operator records and systems. The IAEA has several surveillance systems approved for use [14] that:

- Store data;
- Include local battery backup;
- Provide state of health or picture data to an off-site location;
- Can be triggered by other sensors;
- Are sealed in tamper indicating enclosures.

Figure 6 shows the interior of a tamper proof surveillance system and a typical installation. Facility provision of adequate illumination is necessary to facilitate the IAEA's surveillance activities.



FIG. 6. Next generation IAEA surveillance system [14].

Maintaining 'continuity of knowledge' refers to the process of using surveillance, containment and monitoring measures to maintain already verified safeguards information by detecting any efforts to alter an item's properties which are relevant to safeguards. When continuity of knowledge is maintained successfully, it can reduce the amount of remeasurement activity in subsequent inspections. Figure 7 shows an inspector using seals to maintain the continuity of knowledge during a routine inspection.



FIG. 7. Use of seals to maintain continuity of knowledge.

As the number of fuel cycle facilities and the amount of nuclear material under safeguards expands, the IAEA is challenged to develop more efficient ways to implement effective safeguards. The use of unattended monitoring systems allows inspectors to focus more effort on doing what humans do best, e.g. investigating possible undeclared activities, detecting irregularities in operations or noticing items out of place. Furthermore, the remote transmission of safeguards data from unattended monitoring systems can notify the IAEA when equipment needs maintenance, provide information to help plan inspections and reduce IAEA time on-site conducting inspections, thereby reducing the impact of inspections on facility operation in addition to making safeguards implementation more effective and more efficient.

2.5. FACILITY PHYSICAL INFRASTRUCTURE REQUIREMENTS FOR IAEA SAFEGUARDS ACTIVITIES

The basic requirements of IAEA safeguards equipment include physical space, uninterruptible power and a data transmission backbone. Figure 8 illustrates a surveillance camera being installed which requires dedicated physical space, electrical power and data archive capability. Even without detailed IAEA design criteria for safeguards equipment or systems, which might be specified only late in the design life cycle, provision of cabling and penetrations can be included in the design. The ability to provide access to stable, reliable power and access to secure data transmission capability throughout a nuclear facility would address some of the most costly aspects of retrofitting for safeguards equipment systems and allow flexibility for future safeguards technology installation.



FIG. 8. Installation of a surveillance system.

Safeguards technologies continue to evolve, as does nuclear technology. An ability to easily upgrade systems is dependent on the flexibility of the facility infrastructure design. Figure 9 illustrates that support electronics for IAEA measurement hardware are changing, often in the direction of reduced physical size and increased capability, as technology evolves. A facility design that accommodates modest changes in equipment size, shape and power requirements allows the use of newer alternatives as they become available on the market or as obsolescence removes older alternatives. Reference 8 includes information about the functions, size and infrastructure requirements of IAEA equipment.



FIG. 9. The packaging of gamma ray measurement support electronics is evolving (left: 1987; middle: 2000; right: 2013).

3. STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION

The IAEA recommends early stakeholder interaction, which is vital for the effective implementation of safeguards. In addition to the IAEA, other stakeholders are designers, vendors, project managers, operators and safeguards authorities.

3.1. STAKEHOLDERS

3.1.1. Designers and vendors

Designers and vendors have the responsibility for understanding the many requirements relating to safeguards, security and safety as well as operational requirements. These requirements can include detailed information about safeguards activities, e.g. those that require access, instrumentation that must be installed or any physical infrastructure in the facility necessary to support safeguards equipment. Safeguards expertise should be included in the design team.

3.1.2. Project manager

The project management has the responsibility for managing the competing interests, bringing the design/ construction project to a successful conclusion and, ultimately, delivering a quality facility ready to operate. The use of a safeguards project dossier, where relevant documentation can be kept in a single place shared by all stakeholders, can be useful to maintain critical knowledge as the project evolves. Significant differences can exist between the original design, the as-built drawings and the as-is operating configuration. A dossier is particularly useful given the extended timescales of nuclear projects, which mean that staff turnover can be expected. It is recommended that project managers understand enough about safeguards to make informed decisions regarding safeguards impacts.

3.1.3. Operators

Operators have the responsibility for facility operations, communication between the facility and the relevant State, regional and IAEA safeguards authorities, and implementing nuclear material accountancy and safeguards at the facility level. Operators can benefit from understanding safeguards implementation and might have personnel and equipment dedicated to either national or international safeguards activities or both.

3.1.4. State or regional safeguards authority

The safeguards authority has the responsibility for fulfilling the obligations of the State as defined by treaties and agreements, including formal communications with the IAEA [8]. The authority responsible for safeguards implementation in the State may involve more than one entity in the government, a regional entity, or a combination. In some States, the authority for safeguards does include the regulatory authority. Additional communication between stakeholders such as designers, vendors, operators and the IAEA can be arranged and encouraged by the safeguards authority.

3.2. SAFEGUARDS CONCERNS AT STAGES OF DESIGN

Each phase in the life cycle of the facility can benefit from consideration of safeguards. While safeguards implementation potentially has a small impact on project cost and schedule when considered early in the design process, failure to do so can result in a much larger impact than necessary, both in construction and during operation. Figure 10 depicts the stages of design in a simplified form, and potential SBD implementation at each stage is discussed below. The safeguards authority is the official contact with the IAEA and should be included in

the safeguards dialogue as a stakeholder or as an observer, as appropriate. When the designer and the operator are from different States, each may report to a different safeguards authority. Once a location in a State is selected for the nuclear facility, the corresponding safeguards authority will be the official contact with the IAEA.



FIG. 10. Facility design stages.

Conceptual design — the project planning period, the earliest design stage where preliminary concepts for safeguards measures might be discussed.

- A designer/operator can work with the safeguards authority to ensure that the IAEA is aware of the design and can begin engagement.
- The IAEA might perform an evaluation of the operational process for features relevant to safeguards and to
 propose possible safeguards measures for consideration.
- The IAEA suggests preliminary considerations for a safeguards approach and negotiations begin.
- The designer, the operator and the IAEA can identify and mitigate potential safeguards risks in the conceptual design.

Basic design — subsystem designs under way, basic facility design details are available, including proposed safeguards equipment and locations.

- The IAEA can make a preliminary definition of MBAs and key measurement points.
- All can consider how the design can be optimized to meet both operational and safeguards goals.
- The designer can assess whether the design supports the physical infrastructure necessary for safeguards instrumentation and equipment.
- An analysis⁷ can be performed to verify that no unmonitored opportunities for diversion or misuse exist.

Final design — detailed facility design complete; specifically dimensions, equipment and planned operations are known, allowing for confirmation that the various systems will meet specified requirements with the minimum interference between systems.

- Stakeholders review detailed facility design.
- Stakeholders confirm safeguards equipment can meet requirements.
- Preparation of DIQ.

Construction — the facility is constructed according to the specifications. When the facility design or safeguards equipment are changed during construction, the changes can be assessed to ensure that they have not compromised safeguards performance. The IAEA:

- Conducts design verification activities;
- Reviews and records as-built status;
- Monitors installations relevant to safeguards;
- Confirms that safeguards equipment meets requirements.⁸

⁷ Terms such as diversion/acquisition path analysis have been used to label such an analysis.

⁸ During construction, safeguards equipment can be confirmed to be functional without nuclear material in the facility, whereas operational status includes all necessary aspects for routine operation (e.g. calibration, positioning and certification), including operation of the equipment with nuclear materials present.

Operation — the operator starts up the facility⁹ and systems testing begins. The IAEA confirms that:

- As-built documentation exists for design information verification and safeguards equipment.
- As-is documentation relevant to safeguards is correct.
- The safeguards equipment meets requirements and is operational.
- Safeguards equipment can be commissioned before nuclear material is introduced to test the facility operations.
- The first nuclear material introduced to a new facility is used to calibrate or test the safeguards equipment.

Decommissioning — the operator takes the facility out of operation and begins cleanup and dismantlement. The IAEA:

- Conducts design verification activities;
- Verifies the removal of nuclear material;
- Confirms the removal or disabling of essential equipment;
- Terminates safeguards on the facility.

3.3. PROJECT LIFE CYCLE COST EVOLUTION

Large projects involving both design and construction can be expected to address a wide variety of regulatory and operational requirements and also to resolve conflicts between requirements with minimal additional cost to the project. In general, large projects endeavour to resolve conflicts early — to reduce retrofits and to eliminate shortcomings (or design defects) from the design early in the project — in order to minimize the negative impacts of change on both cost and schedule. Systems engineering has documented that the impact and cost of changes before design features are finalized is smaller than when they are changed after the design is finalized [15]. Costs for design and construction might be as much as 70% committed at the conclusion of the conceptual design phase of the project. Figure 11 displays a hypothetical example of the cumulative project costs as a function of time, where it is assumed the conceptual design is 8% of the total cost, the design is 7% of the cost, development and testing is 35%, and the operation through disposal is 50% of the total project cost. Overlaid on the figure is the cost to address design changes — the cost to remove defective design features — which is shown to increase by orders of magnitude when adjustments are made late in the process rather than early. While the exact values may vary, the figure illustrates the wide range of experience managing large projects of all types that early consideration of all requirements can reduce total project costs compared to delayed or incomplete consideration early in a project. Furthermore, the figure suggests that the costs of introducing changes once the facility is operating can be expected to be even higher than those incurred from changes late in the construction process. SBD recommends that the potential for cost escalations be included in considerations about when and how to address safeguards requirements.

4. SAFEGUARDS CONSIDERATIONS RELATED TO REACTOR DESIGN

The term safeguardability has been used to describe the ease of applying safeguards to a facility (Annex III [3]). A reactor facility can be designed such that nuclear material can be controlled and accounted for and the IAEA can independently verify the declarations made about that nuclear material with minimal cost impact. Perhaps the biggest benefit can come from including the infrastructure for the safeguards equipment in the design and construction, especially when penetrations are necessary for cabling. The importance of keeping as-built or as-is design documentation up to date cannot be overemphasized.

⁹ The safeguards equipment should be certified for use before nuclear material is introduced into the facility.



FIG. 11. Cumulative life cycle costs as function of time [15].

In this publication, the term 'equipment list' will be used in a generic way to represent various lists of equipment. This section uses a large LWR fuelled with low enriched uranium (LEU) as a baseline example. References [12, 16] provide additional information. Much of the baseline guidance can apply to any reactor type, and additional points addressing reactor variations are discussed in Section 5. Annex IV arranges the guidance in a table.

In the facility conceptual design stage, international safeguards can be considered using general guidance that is not overly prescriptive. Guidance that describes the safeguards issues, rather than prescribing how to address them, may be more useful to facility designers and operators at this stage. Dictating specific technology solutions for facility safeguards can be challenging since variability in facility designs and State specific factors preclude 'one size fits all' solutions. However, communication can usefully include descriptions of metrics for accuracy, precision and validation of results.

For example, while it is not feasible to identify an exact camera location until the design of the parts of the facility to be under surveillance is fixed, it is feasible to inform the designer that a camera needs adequate illumination, and which activities relevant to safeguards will require the placement and use of cameras. The designer can also include surveillance requirements as the layout and design are optimized. Specifications for the supply of electrical power, space and communications cabling can be discussed without knowing the exact location or height above the working level(s) of the final installation.

A designer can keep general safeguards considerations in mind, such as:

- How to facilitate inspection activities;
- How to minimize the need for IAEA inspectors to revisit the site for clarification of information collected during previous visits;
- How to mitigate safeguards issues during off normal (unusual) events;
- Where to install backup or emergency power and for how long this needs to be available.

Measures that can facilitate inspection activities include:

- Providing access to and space for safeguards equipment maintenance¹⁰;
- Minimizing radiation exposure of inspectors (and equipment);
- Providing access to and space for design verification (e.g. containment and piping);
- Minimizing the potential for damage to safeguards equipment or loss of safeguards data;
- Providing adequate illumination for personnel access and for surveillance;
- Clearly labelling safeguards equipment and its physical infrastructure in English and in the facility operator's native language;
- Providing unique identifiers for each nuclear material item;
- Suggesting reliable, low maintenance options for equipment.

The greatest technical challenge for safeguarding a reactor concerns direct use material. Any unirradiated¹¹ HEU, ²³³U or plutonium (including mixed oxides) will have the most stringent verification requirements including measurement frequency and sensitivity. Misuse of a reactor to produce irradiated direct use material can be difficult to detect. Also of interest is whether the facility has fuel pin replacement capability, since the ability to disassemble a fuel assembly to remove or replace a pin breaches the item accounting integrity of the fuel assembly. Low enriched uranium fresh fuel will have less frequent verification and measurement sensitivity requirements.

In a reactor facility, the nuclear material comes into the reactor as fresh fuel, is used in the core to provide energy (fuel can be shuffled in the core to flatten the power distribution and to optimize fuel burnup), moved to wet storage at the reactor, and then moved to dry storage near the reactor or shipped to wet or dry storage facilities away from the reactor site. While the core is operating, the nuclear material inside the core is fissioned and/or transmuted and plutonium or ²³³U may be produced in large quantities. It is not easy to calculate the new isotopic or spatial distributions of the nuclear material in the irradiated fuel accurately, and it is even more difficult to measure these characteristics accurately.

Inventory key measurement points are generally located in the fuel storage areas: fresh fuel storage, reactor core and reactor spent fuel storage. Flow key measurement points are located at fuel transfer sites: fresh fuel receipts, fuel transfers from fresh fuel storage to the reactor core, irradiated fuel transfer from the reactor core to spent fuel, transfer of recirculating core fuel, transfer of spent fuel to storage and spent fuel transfer/shipment from the MBA/facility.

Figure 12 depicts a simplified MBA and key measurement point layout for an LWR, including four flow key measurement points (labelled 1, 2, 3, 4) and three inventory key measurement points (labelled A, B, C). The dark line indicates the facility boundary, with key measurement point 1 and key measurement point 4 assigned to measure items that cross the facility boundary.



FIG. 12. Material balance area and key measurement points for an LWR.

¹⁰ Each State has building codes with recommendations for ingress/egress and working space to access junction boxes and electrical cabinets.

¹¹ For safeguards purposes, unirradiated implies the lack of fission products, not whether the nuclear material itself has been irradiated.

The safeguards approach at a power reactor includes surveillance, containment and monitoring measures. Possible safeguards approaches to surveillance, containment and monitoring are shown in Figs 13 and 14. Figure 13 depicts a reactor design with its associated spent fuel pond located inside the reactor containment and Fig. 14 depicts a reactor design with the spent fuel pond located outside the reactor containment. In these illustrations of surveillance, containment and monitoring equipment, surveillance cameras and tamper indicating seals are positioned to view areas or activities of potential safeguards interest, some within the containment.



FIG. 13. Typical safeguards surveillance, containment and monitoring equipment for a reactor with spent fuel stored inside containment.



FIG. 14. Typical safeguards surveillance, containment and monitoring equipment for a reactor with separate spent fuel storage (SV=surveillance).

Safeguards equipment at reactor facilities can include:

- Cameras in the reactor hall, above the fuel ponds and monitoring core activities;
- Seals on containment penetrations and important fuel transfer channels;
- NDA measurements of fresh and irradiated fuel.

Actual locations and the numbers of units and seals are determined for each facility according to the specific design. A designer can potentially consider the safeguards surveillance, containment and monitoring needs and also any measurement equipment needs as part of the design optimization process. Figure 14 depicts the use of additional temporary cameras during reactor refuelling or maintenance operations. In addition, these figures illustrate some of the difficulties inspectors can encounter when trying to monitor multiple activities or areas with a single surveillance camera. In some facilities, multiple cameras are required as a consequence of how the internal components are arranged. Consideration of safeguards early in the design layout may help mitigate difficulties with the efficient application of surveillance, containment and monitoring.

For existing designs with a well established safeguards approach, lessons learned from implementation and operation of the safeguards equipment can be useful input for consideration in subsequent plants to be constructed.

4.1. MISUSE/DIVERSION SCENARIOS

'Misuse/diversion' refers to the misuse of the facility and/or the diversion of nuclear material. For existing reactor designs in current operation, the misuse/diversion scenarios have been addressed with the safeguards approach. Reconsideration of these designs by a design team is not expected to be cost effective. However, a basic understanding of current safeguards practice might be useful to them. For innovative designs, an analysis can be performed, possibly in collaboration with the State and/or regional safeguards authorities and the IAEA, to identify possible misuse and diversion scenarios. Annex III and Refs [17–19] discuss possible methods for analysis.

There are two basic misuse/diversion scenarios for nuclear reactors: (1) undeclared production and (2) diversion from the declared inventory. The misuse involves the production of undeclared nuclear material from undeclared irradiation targets in the reactor.

It might be helpful for designers to become familiar with the concept of diversion and misuse scenarios and the related pathways that safeguards are intended to address. Designers can consider all types of diversion, including abrupt and protracted diversion, and misuse followed by diversion. Some examples of possible misuse/diversion scenarios and potential safeguards measures to address the scenarios are described in Table 1 (and are also discussed on page 17 of Ref. [16]).

Practical examples of design features to help make diversion more difficult are discussed in the following sections and include:

- Minimal number of penetrations in the containment structure and/or pool building;
- Design accommodations that minimize the required number of tamper indicating seals and that facilitate use of seals;
- Layout of the facility and access to camera locations to minimize the need for multiple surveillance systems, including the preparation of camera mounting locations;
- Features to easily distinguish fuel and non-fuel items;
- Access controlled spaces for receipts, storage and measurement of nuclear items;
- Easy to read, unique identifiers for nuclear material items.

TABLE 1. MISUSE/DIVERSION SCENARIOS

Misuse/diversion scenarios	Concealment methods Substitution with dummies, falsifying records, borrowing fuel rods or assemblies from another location	Safeguards measures Item counting, item identification, application of seals, non-destructive assay (NDA) measurements, simultaneous inspections
Removal of fuel rods or assemblies from the fresh fuel storage area		
Removal of fuel assemblies from the core	Substitution with dummies, falsifying records, borrowing fuel assemblies from another location	Item counting, item identification, seals, optical surveillance, spent fuel bundle counters, core discharge monitors, simultaneous inspections
Irradiation of undeclared fuel assemblies or other material in or near the core and recovery of the plutonium	Undeclared design changes allowing targets to be introduced into the core	Seals, optical surveillance, NDA measurements, spent fuel bundle counters, core discharge monitors, power monitoring, design information verification
Removal of fuel rods or assemblies from the spent fuel pool	Substitution with dummies, falsifying records, borrowing fuel rods or assemblies from another location	Item counting, item identification, seals, optical surveillance, NDA measurements, spent fuel bundle counters, simultaneous inspections
Removal of fuel rods or assemblies from a consignment when they leave the facility or subsequently	Substitution with dummies in the consignment, understating the number of assemblies shipped and substitution with dummies in the spent fuel pool	Verification of content of shipping container, sealing of shipping container before shipment and verification of content at receiving facility

4.2. GENERAL GUIDANCE

With an understanding of IAEA safeguards objectives and the tools and measures of the inspectorate, some general guidance to consider would be:

- To provide infrastructure support (e.g. normal and backup power, lighting for surveillance, access, dedicated space, data transmission capability) inside the facility. Figure 15 shows the operator providing installation support during emplacement of IAEA equipment.
- If a video surveillance or fuel flow monitoring system is used that requires a data collection cabinet, to install the cabinet in an area/room protected from extreme temperature, humidity and dust.
- To minimize the number of access points in the reactor containment and other shielding structures through which any fresh or spent fuel movement can take place.
- To design for adequate uninterruptible electrical power to support safeguards equipment and instrumentation (e.g. instrument cabinet, instrument sensors, IAEA installed or facility illumination, cooling and heating) with battery/diesel generator/gas turbine backup for unattended systems.
- To plan the fuel transport routes so that surveillance, containment and monitoring and nuclear material flow monitoring systems have the ability to clearly distinguish between routine fuel transfers and other fuel activities, and also between fuel and non-fuel activities.
- To ensure that optical surveillance systems are not blocked by large pieces of equipment (e.g. the fuel handling crane).
- To consider penetrations through containment (e.g. the reactor safety containment) for cabling for safeguards equipment to avoid situations where penetrations have to be drilled in later during construction.
- To provide adequate access for attaching, replacing or servicing any seals.
- To minimize the effect of safeguards on plant operation by designing locations for safeguards equipment that are accessible for inspection, monitoring and maintenance and that do not obstruct or impede plant operations.



FIG. 15. Installation of IAEA equipment racks.

- To ensure that inspectors can accomplish all safeguards activities safely and expeditiously and that safeguards equipment is reasonably protected from unintentional damage.
- To consider provisions protecting proprietary and restricted information.
- To clearly label all safeguards equipment (including cabling power supplies and switches) to avoid inadvertent interruptions in surveillance and monitoring.
- To provide capabilities to enable the use of safeguards seals at key measurement points and features relevant to safeguards such as key junction boxes where cables are terminated or connected.
- To ensure verification of spent fuel in storage without undue handling. Ease of verification can include unattended monitoring for fuel movement, surveillance, containment and monitoring of IAEA equipment inside of containment¹², and provisions for sealing of the storage to reduce the need to re-verify fuel assemblies and/or rods.
- To provide a single dedicated space for safeguards' electronic equipment¹³ that can be access controlled by the inspectorate. This space might include some additional room to accommodate future IAEA equipment.
- To minimize the impact on facility operations from inspector's measurements by considering controlled space, access control and access to facility infrastructure (e.g. cranes, bridge over pool) for any required verification measurements.
- To provide means to mitigate the consequences of losing safeguards continuity of knowledge from abnormal events.¹⁴

4.3. SPECIFIC LOCATIONS WITHIN A REACTOR

Nuclear material at a reactor is present in five areas: the shipping/receiving area, the fresh and spent fuel storage areas, the core and in fuel transfer chambers. Each area warrants specific consideration.

4.3.1. Shipping/receiving area

Typically, a nuclear power reactor receives fresh fuel and ships spent fuel. Usually the nuclear material arrives inside fresh fuel transport containers with an IAEA seal. The transport containers might remain in this area, possibly under surveillance, until an inspector is available to cut the seal and allow the transfer of the assemblies to

¹² For example, some equipment used while on-load reactors are at power is inside the containment under seal.

¹³ Safeguards equipment generally has dedicated electronics racks for signal processing, batteries, and a data archive located remotely from the sensor; and in less hazardous space than the sensor location.

¹⁴ For example, provide reliable backup power for occasions when a site loss of power might affect IAEA equipment.

the fresh fuel storage.¹⁵ The activities relevant to safeguards that can be performed upon transfer to the fresh fuel storage include the following:

- The IAEA detaches the seal from the transport container.
- The operator unloads the transport containers and transfers the fresh fuel assemblies into the fresh fuel storage under IAEA observation.
- The IAEA identifies and counts each fuel item transferred into storage.

When spent fuel assemblies leave the nuclear facility, the activities relevant to safeguards to be performed vary from site to site. Usually, the transport cask is loaded in the spent fuel pond area, where inspectors will identify each fuel assembly and perform appropriate NDA measurements. Once the transport cask is full, it is closed and the inspector seals it, typically applying dual surveillance, containment and monitoring.¹⁶ The transport container is then moved to the shipping area where it will stay under IAEA surveillance (usually provided by cameras) until shipment. The shipment itself does not necessarily require the presence of the inspector.

In the shipping area, if the nuclear material is still on-site during routine inspections, the inspector can verify the seal on the transport cask and review the surveillance data. Otherwise, only the surveillance data will be reviewed.

Design features for the shipping/receiving area of the facility that will assist in the implementation of safeguards include a minimum number of access points in the shipping/receiving area, with suitable arrangements to allow for NDA measurements, sealing and/or surveillance equipment at storage and at access points.

4.3.2. Fresh fuel storage

Fresh fuel storage can be either dry or wet. The radiological hazard associated with LWR fresh fuel assemblies is low and no particular biological shielding is needed, making the items easily accessible to inspectors. Typical activities performed in this area during inspections are item counting and identification, and NDA measurements for gross defect verification according to a sampling plan. The fresh fuel storage might be under optical surveillance for ensuring continuity of knowledge. Sometimes it might be necessary to seal part of the fresh fuel inventory. Information needed by the inspectorate is a list of the available items in the storage, an updated map of the storage including the identification of the items, their position in the storage and their nuclear material content.

If the storage is in water, some NDA measurements require the placing of equipment in the water during the inspection. This aspect needs to be taken into account by the designer with due consideration of the facility's decontamination health and safety regulations and procedures.

From a safeguards point of view, it would be convenient to design the fresh fuel area and schedule operations in the area to minimize unnecessary access and activities. Minimization of off-site shipments and receipts can also be considered.

Design features for fresh fuel storage areas that assist in implementing safeguards include:

- Controlled access to the fresh fuel storage area, including a minimum number of access penetrations, with suitable arrangements to allow for sealing/surveillance;
- A layout of the fresh fuel storage that allows inspectors to verify and progressively seal groups of fuel assemblies as they are put into storage without affecting the continuity of knowledge of the fuel already in inventory;
- Adequate space and illumination between assemblies that allow inspectors to read the identifiers on fuel assemblies and conduct NDA measurements, specifically:
 - Provision for the use of the inspector's portable NDA equipment;
 - Arrangement of fuel within the storage area to minimize the need for moving fuel in order to identify specific assemblies.

¹⁵ The cutting activity might occur during a routine inspection or the inspectorate might arrange to send an inspector to the facility upon the arrival of the transport container.

¹⁶ Dual surveillance, containment and monitoring refers to use of two surveillance, containment and monitoring measures for redundancy and reliability that do not share a common failure or tamper mode.

4.3.3. Spent fuel storage

LWR spent fuel is stored in spent fuel ponds to provide both cooling and biological shielding. Typical routine verification activities conducted during inspections include: item identification, measurements with a Cerenkov viewing device and/or gamma measurements [14]. Figure 16 shows an IAEA inspection using the reactor hall bridge crane with a Cerenkov viewing device to observe irradiated fuel. The area can be under optical surveillance, and the transfer channels between the core and the pond may be sealed.



FIG. 16. Verification of irradiated fuel using a Cerenkov instrument [14].

During routine inspections, surveillance data are reviewed on-site or collected for review and any seals are checked. Design considerations for spent fuel storage areas relevant to safeguards are:

- Some of the NDA measurements can require lowering equipment into the water during the inspection; this aspect can be considered in the design in coordination with health and safety issues.
- For one type of NDA measurement, the analysis of the Cerenkov glow emitted by each assembly in the pond might require the inspector to be able to position him/herself over each irradiated assembly, on a vertical axis to the assembly to be verified.
- Limiting access and activities in nuclear material storage or handling areas can facilitate IAEA review of surveillance, containment and monitoring data by reducing the number of events that are difficult to understand or interpret.

Design features for spent fuel storage areas that assist in the implementation of safeguards are:

- A location that provides an unobstructed view of activities potentially involving nuclear material and that is suitable for the installation of surveillance equipment.
- Light sources in the room whose spectrum does not overlap with the characteristics of Cerenkov glow detection techniques.
- Storage racks, preferably configured in a single layer, that permit viewing directly from above the top of each fuel assembly with its identifier visible (e.g. no overhang over fuel storage locations which block the view).
- Provisions for verifying and sealing the fuel in the lower layer(s) if fuel storage is in more than one layer.
- An indexing system such that the inspectors can identify specific fuel assembly locations from the fuel handling control point.
- A minimum number of openings in the building structure through which it is possible to transfer spent fuel, with suitable arrangements to allow for their sealing/surveillance.

- Water clarity and surface stability that allow easy visual inspection of the fuel assemblies in their storage position and viewing of the Cerenkov glow from the assemblies. The Cerenkov glow requires water clarity in both the ultraviolet and visible light spectrums. Figure 17 is a close up view of inspectors using a Cerenkov viewing device directly above the spent fuel assembly.
- A spent fuel cooling water return route designed so as to prevent thermal turbulence near the surface of fuel assemblies.
- Provisions that facilitate the annual PIV that consists of counting the total number of spent fuel items and verifying spent fuel attributes by NDA measurement, specifically:
 - Minimizing the movement of fuel for counting and measurement purposes;
 - Providing adequate working space on the bridge for inspectors and equipment as illustrated in Figs 16 and 17 above;
 - For special cases (e.g. long cooled fuel, low burnup fuel or locations not vertically accessible), providing for the raising or quarantine of assemblies chosen for sampling to allow measurement using the inspector's equipment;
 - Providing a facility design for the fuel handling process and storage that facilitates the verification of fuel transfers out of the spent fuel pool (e.g. using remote monitoring);
 - Designing a location that facilitates safeguards during fuel reconstitution¹⁷ such that, if possible, the flow of assemblies/rods into and out of the area follows predefined routes monitored by IAEA equipment.
- Provisions for inspection of any closed containers located within the spent fuel pool.
- Making it more difficult to hide an undeclared transfer cask.
- A hoist for a portable underwater camera used to item count and item identify irradiated fuel in the spent fuel pool or spent fuel cask.
- A minimum number of personnel access points into the area.
- Underwater storage locations for safeguards equipment used underwater.



FIG. 17. Inspector viewing irradiated fuel assemblies using a Cerenkov glow viewing device.

Interim spent fuel storage installations, which typically include a dry storage facility on the nuclear power plant site, can also benefit from SBD. Provision of design features to facilitate dual surveillance, containment and monitoring, item identification and access control are features relevant to safeguards that should be considered. Since such installations are increasingly implemented at nuclear power plants, they will be considered in the overall safeguards approach for a given reactor site. Industry may be aware of the relevant safeguards requirements and, where possible, accommodate them in facility designs.

¹⁷ Some assemblies are designed to be capable of disassembly on-site in order to remove defective fuel pins and then reconstituted for re-use in the reactor, on-site.

4.3.4. Core

In off load refuelled reactors, which are refuelled while shut down, the core is usually sealed¹⁸ for the entire irradiation (operating) period, and the core and/or core seals can be kept under optical surveillance. Prior to refuelling, the inspector might install a backup temporary surveillance camera to reduce the possibility of a loss of continuity of knowledge in case of a camera failure. When refuelling takes place, inspectors might be present and perform core fuel verification (item counting, gross defect verification via Cerenkov glow evaluation, and, if possible, item identification). After the closure of the core, the inspector seals it with an IAEA seal.

As with Cerenkov glow evaluation in the spent fuel pond, the inspector needs to be able to position him or herself in a perfect vertical alignment with every assembly in the core. The system's design should enable this.

The design features for the reactor core that assist in the implementation of safeguards are:

- A sealing system for the nuclear material within the reactor core. Such a system should be accessible for inspection, easy to install and protected against damage. The preferred core seals are usually indirect in that they are multipoint seals applied to the missile shield, the reactor slab, or some other component, rather than directly to the reactor vessel (the attachment points for the seal wire cannot be removed without breaking the wire).
- Surveillance equipment for viewing reactor vessel operations whenever the vessel is open.
- Underwater illumination in the reactor vessel and sufficient water clarity so that the inspector can count the fuel assemblies, read their identifiers and use Cerenkov viewing devices.
- Provisions that allow the IAEA to implement power monitoring in small reactors.

In general, the IAEA places a minimum amount of equipment inside the containment (typically, the sensor might be inside but support electronics are outside) because access for maintenance and to retrieve data is much easier. For example, a surveillance camera inside the containment can be connected to support or data storage equipment located outside the containment.

4.3.5. Fuel transfer chambers

Design features for the fuel loading and unloading area that assist in the implementation of safeguards are:

- A suitable mounting for surveillance equipment that inspectors can use to view identifier numbers of fuel assemblies when the transfer canals are being used for refuelling operations;
- An indexing mechanism on the refuelling machine with a device that can identify the location of each assembly;
- Provision for sealing the canal gate (when applicable) to indicate to the inspectors when it was opened, and an indexing system (where possible) to monitor material shipments between the core and spent fuel pool;
- Provision for inspector access above fuel being loaded into casks or underwater cameras to verify spent fuel identifiers;
- Provision for installation of NDA equipment at key measurement points between the reactor core and spent fuel pool;
- Provision of a surveillance/NDA system to maintain continuity of knowledge of verified spent fuel.

4.4. DECOMMISSIONING

Application of IAEA safeguards continues after the reactor is shut down and preparations for decommissioning begin. The design can consider facilitating activities such as verifying that:

- Nuclear material has been removed from the core and from storage;
- Waste containing nuclear material has been measured and removed;
- Essential equipment has been removed or rendered inoperable.

¹⁸ A possible sealing arrangement foresees two seals: a copper-brass one and an electronic one.

In the context of international safeguards, a facility is considered to be decommissioned when the nuclear material has been removed and the equipment essential for operation has been removed or rendered inoperable. The IAEA uses an 'essential equipment list' (of equipment necessary for the declared activities involving nuclear material) to assist it in this determination. Designers are well suited to help the IAEA create such a list, which can be part of the design information provided to the IAEA at an early stage. During early design verification activities, the IAEA can check for the presence of items on the list in addition to their other activities. During the time from when the essential equipment arrives at the facility to when it is verified to have been removed from the site or verified to be non-functioning¹⁹, the facility is considered available for use. In order for the facility to be considered unable to be used, the IAEA must first verify the absence of both nuclear material and the essential equipment (or that such equipment is inoperable).

5. CONSIDERATIONS RELATED TO REACTOR VARIATIONS

This section discusses variations from a typical LEU fuelled LWR. In addition to the considerations covered in Section 4, designers/engineers can also consider how the details described below affect IAEA safeguards implementation.

5.1. MODULAR REACTORS

Designers of small modular reactors (SMRs) for commercial use can consider aspects of these designs related to their safeguardability. Analysis of the safeguardability of a particular SMR design can take into consideration the safeguards equipment that is needed to ensure that safeguards can be implemented in a cost effective manner. SMRs can be expected to have the following characteristics that could affect the implementation of safeguards [20]:

- Low thermal signature: Having a thermal footprint similar to other small scale energy technologies currently deployed in remote locations implies that it will be challenging to use satellite or other forms of remote sensing to verify operation. However, indirect indicators such as lights being on in a remote village or the observed operation of powered equipment in the absence of alternative power sources may be useful.
- Coolant: Use of coolants other than water such as lead-bismuth or sodium does not allow for traditional optical viewing of the fuel in the core or in the spent fuel storage. The IAEA can potentially benefit from access to operator viewing systems for these routine inspection tasks. Authentication of these systems can be considered early on in the design process as it might be technically challenging.
- Number of units per site: One of the potential advantages of SMRs is that multiple individual reactor units can be added sequentially to one larger station, possibly sharing a single control room. However, from a safeguards standpoint, the larger the number of units, the greater the potential need for refuelling and number of discharges per calendar year. It is possible that a common spent fuel pool might be used. These characteristics will need to be considered by the IAEA in determining its inspection approach and inspection frequency, including PIV if an increase in inspection resources is to be avoided or minimized.
- Long life reactor core (sealed vessel): Reduced core access and reduced refuelling frequency makes misuse of the facility and diversion of spent fuel much more difficult. But this will need to be reconciled with the traditional IAEA annual physical inventory of each reactor core, performed when access to the core is possible.²⁰

¹⁹ In reactor safety parlance, different definitions of 'operable or non-operable' can apply: 'functioning' implies good working order but the calibration and documentation is not approved by the regulator and management, 'operable' implies it meets licensing requirements (calibrated and certified) and 'functional and approved for use' imply that all required documentation is approved and in place. 'Non-functioning' implies the equipment is not useable, irrespective of the calibration and approval documentation status.

²⁰ Most safeguarded reactor duty cycles are 12–18 months.

- Advanced²¹ fuel cycle: In general, the nature of a non-LWR based SMR operating in an advanced fuel cycle will almost certainly be unfamiliar to the safeguards inspectorate and require significant analysis to understand the most effective and efficient safeguards approach. This presents an opportunity for safeguards experts to collaborate with the design team.
- Enrichment: If a design requires uranium fuel enriched above 20%, direct use nuclear material is involved likely requiring increased safeguards activities.
- Surplus reactivity: A reactor designed for low refuelling frequency would likely have high surplus reactivity and burnable absorbers²². Such a core might tolerate target irradiation without affecting key operational parameters that can be monitored and, from an independent observer's viewpoint, neutronic management with burnable absorbers would look similar to neutronic management with target material. Verifying that there is no possibility of access for target insertion or removal can be made a design requirement. Potentially, these concerns can be mitigated with a pre-operation design verification activity by the IAEA coupled with reliable sealing and surveillance measures.
- Fuel element size: Depending on design, the reactor core length might be significantly smaller than conventional designs, leading to the use of shorter fuel elements and two opposing impacts on diversion issues: obtaining a useful quantity requires diverting more items, yet the small size tends to facilitate item concealment. These fuel types can be considered similarly to CANDU or PBMR pebble fuels. Reduced refuelling frequencies and sealed cores can mitigate some of the problems.
- Spent fuel storage geometry: Smaller fuel elements would possibly need to be stored vertically for cooling purposes, with a strong economic incentive to stack fuel and reduce the storage footprint. This geometry potentially challenges the current safeguards inspection activities owing to lack of direct line visibility of fuel elements from above. In one current approach, the operator packages a group of elements in a basket for ease of handling and transport, and the IAEA places the seals on the baskets at the packaging location instead of at the storage location.

5.2. ON LOAD REFUELLED REACTORS

On load refuelled reactors require safeguards consideration of the increased frequency in spent fuel handling compared to off load reactors. Frequent movements of the relatively small, irradiated direct use items offers an opportunity for NDA instrumentation to be installed within the primary containment to facilitate IAEA activities, but can require a designer to consider the utilization of unattended systems that are remotely monitored or that require periodic servicing on-site by inspectors. Spent fuel verification within the spent fuel pool can challenge designers to consider methods for minimizing spent fuel movements, especially if the irradiated fuel to be verified is stacked in layers. Since re-verification of the nuclear material inventory values can be disruptive and costly, additional measures such as redundancy or subdivision of sealed enclosures can be considered to mitigate issues resulting from a potential loss of surveillance or to shorten the re-verification process.

Safeguards considerations include provision for:

- Maintaining continuity of knowledge on the core with radiation sensor based core discharge monitors and bundle counters [14];
- Facilitating IAEA verification and maintaining continuity of knowledge of irradiated fuel placed in layers for storage;
- Remote monitoring of IAEA equipment to verify its proper operation.

5.3. PEBBLE BED AND PRISMATIC FUELLED HTGRs

In addition to using nuclear reactors for generating electricity, research and development and isotope production, it is important to note that a high temperature gas cooled reactor (HTGR) can be used for other

²¹ Here, 'advanced' can imply innovative fuel designs, use of minor actinides, fast reactor designs, or some combination of these.

²² Some safeguarded reactors are already using such fuels.

commercial applications, such as those utilizing very high temperature process heat. Designing characteristics relevant to safeguards into the facility at an early stage will be important to maintaining flexibility in monitoring nuclear material inventory and flow when these reactors are deployed (e.g. in petrochemical and chemical processing, fertilizer production or crude oil refining), especially if they are integral to the associated industrial application.

5.3.1. Pebble fuelled HTGRs

Safeguards considerations for the designer that are unique to a pebble fuelled HTGR include:

- The seal and surveillance systems for the reactor core and irradiated pebble fuel storage vessels may be directed at the access hatches to those areas, rather than the vessels themselves, since they are in high radiation areas. This implies that design verification activities take on more importance.
- The IAEA will likely use fuel flow monitors to verify the fuel transfers to and from the associated pebble fuel storage vessels and reactor vessel(s). The fuel flow monitor will count, verify and discriminate spent pebble fuel from fresh, irradiated and damaged pebble fuel, and graphite pebble moderator. Access for installation and maintenance could become an interesting design challenge.
- IAEA seals may also be applied to the fresh pebble fuel storage drums and the pebble feed hopper(s) in the fresh fuel handling area. The designer can provide adequate space for attaching, replacing and servicing the seals.
- The IAEA likely will use NDA techniques for verifying fresh (unirradiated) pebble fuel casks that are the same as those currently used for verifying fresh nuclear fuel containing LEU and uranium oxide fuel (i.e. gamma spectroscopy combined with passive and active coincident neutron counting). The NDA techniques can be complemented by surveillance, containment and monitoring and unattended monitoring. The selection and optimization of this equipment will be dictated by the pebble fuel size, geometry and radionuclide content (i.e. ²³⁵U, ²³³U, plutonium and thorium). Two square metres of space is adequate for most of these IAEA systems and the power requirements are expected to be less than typical office electrical power needs. Design consideration can also be given to communications cabling for unattended operation.

5.3.2. Prismatic fuelled HTGRs

Safeguards considerations for the designer that are unique to a prismatic fuelled HTGR include:

- IAEA seals may be applied to the fuel pit covers in the fresh fuel storage area and in the gas cooled spent fuel storage pits if dry storage is used. If spent HTGR fuel is stored in a pool, seals on the fuel would not normally be used.
- If the core or spent fuel cannot be presented easily for verification, then a radiation based fuel flow monitoring system would likely be used to count and verify the irradiated HTGR fuel as it is transferred from the reactor core to the spent fuel storage area, and to detect undeclared reverse transfers of fuel. If the spent fuel storage area is difficult to access (e.g. gas cooled dry storage pits), the fuel flow monitor, possibly in combination with dual surveillance, containment and monitoring measures, would be used to count, verify and discriminate between dummy fuel, fresh fuel, irradiated core fuel and fully irradiated spent fuel. The designer can include the safeguards equipment and physical infrastructure in the design optimization.
- Equipment that has been used for verifying fresh (unirradiated) prismatic HTGR fuel is similar to the NDA equipment that the IAEA uses to verify LWR fuel containing LEU and uranium oxide fuel (MOX). The optimization and selection of this equipment will be dictated by the nuclear material content of the new prismatic HTGR fuel designs (i.e. whether they contain LEU, HEU, plutonium, thorium and/or ²³³U).
5.4. MOX FUELLED LWRs

Fresh mixed plutonium and uranium oxide fuel, also known as MOX (mixed oxide) fuel, is more safeguards sensitive than natural uranium or LEU fuel, particularly for reconstitutable²³ fresh assemblies, as it contains unirradiated direct use material. A more stringent safeguards approach is therefore usually required for MOX assemblies. Receipt, storage and movements within a reactor facility can be closely monitored in order to maintain continuity of knowledge of the fresh MOX fuel. After it is used to power an operating reactor, the fuel contains substantial amounts of fission products and is considered irradiated direct use material, similar to irradiated LEU fuel — and safeguards might be adjusted accordingly. The following safeguards considerations can be taken into account:

- Measurement or surveillance of fresh MOX fuel under water can require more stringent²⁴ surveillance, containment and monitoring measures and IAEA verification than fresh LEU fuel in storage because of the plutonium content. Emerging technologies for NDA of MOX fresh and spent fuel are currently under development. Partial defect NDA on irradiated fuel is a more difficult technical challenge for measuring thermal reactor generated plutonium than for fast reactor generated plutonium.
- Consideration can be given to minimize fresh MOX fuel storage time at the plant and to providing means for easily sealing the fresh MOX fuel separately within the storage.
- Consideration can be given to applying more stringent surveillance, containment and monitoring measures to fresh MOX transfer pathways, including radiation detectors for nuclear material flow monitoring.
- Spent fuel storage surveillance, containment and monitoring of MOX fuel is consistent with the non-MOX spent fuel items for a reactor facility under IAEA safeguards. It may be more efficient to cover both the dismantling station and the location of spent fuel storage in the spent fuel pool with single surveillance, containment and monitoring using surveillance when wet storage is used.

5.5. RESEARCH REACTORS AND CRITICAL ASSEMBLIES

Numerous research reactor concepts have been developed and deployed around the world. Their design and flexibility are far more diversified than is the case for power reactors. While the small scale of research reactors and critical assemblies (RRCAs) might suggest that a research reactor is not an important fuel cycle facility, they are a potential acquisition path that the IAEA monitors carefully. Their characteristics offer additional possibilities (potential acquisition paths) for the undeclared production of nuclear material or diversion of declared nuclear material compared to the baseline case [21–23].

Safeguards considerations for RRCAs include:

- RRCAs might be co-located with research facilities for the disassembly of irradiated items, such as hot cells.
- RRCAs can be designed to facilitate irradiation of target samples.
- RRCAs can be of small size and therefore easier to hide.
- RRCAs are often operated intermittently.
- RRCAs can be designed to use unirradiated HEU or plutonium in the fresh fuel or as targets.
- Many RRCA fresh fuel items are easily carried by hand.
- In older facilities, storage of significant amounts of irradiated fuel from RRCAs can be an attractive object for diversion.

²³ Fuel assembly designs can include a requirement that they are easily disassembled for replacement of defective fuel pins at the reactor site.

²⁴ More stringent implies use of more surveillance, containment and monitoring measures and more frequent measurements with improved measurement uncertainties.

Specific safeguards issues to consider for RRCAs include:

- HEU or plutonium fuel in critical assemblies can still be considered 'unirradiated' even after use since the irradiation times can be so short that the radiation levels drop quickly after use.
- Stores of loose items containing uranium or plutonium for research activities may be present, which can complicate the material accountancy approach by not being amenable to item counting or measurement.
- HEU may be present for use as targets for the production of medical isotopes such as molybdenum-99 (⁹⁹Mo).
- Even after extensive use, the enrichment of HEU fuel that was 93% enriched at the beginning of use often still exceeds 20% enrichment at end of use, and is considered by the IAEA to be 'highly enriched'.
- The possibility to store large quantities of fresh fuel including HEU, ²³³U or plutonium at an RRCA facility.
- The need to monitor fuel and target loading/unloading activities much more frequently, although for much smaller quantities than those found in larger reactors.
- The possibility to irradiate targets of thorium (to produce ²³³U) or ²³⁸U (to produce ²³⁹Pu), to produce direct use material.
- The use of MOX fuel (covered in Section 5.4).
- Separation of plutonium from fresh fuel can be easier than separating plutonium from irradiated fuel.
- Fissile material production in an RRCA can be optimized if the core is loaded with a 'driver' fuel to maintain criticality, and surrounded by a 'blanket' fuel containing a target material. Consequently, the IAEA can choose to pay close attention to potential diversion from stores of depleted, natural and LEU at an RRCA.
- The possibility of remote monitoring being used in a cost effective manner to reduce inspector activity on-site and yet maintain or improve safeguards effectiveness. One example of this approach is the use of an advanced thermohydraulic power monitoring system that can independently assess coolant flow and heat extraction to calculate plutonium production in the core. This system can be mounted on the primary core coolant loop in a non-penetrating manner.
- Fewer sensitive or proprietary issues for RRCAs exist compared to LWRs that allow more opportunity for safeguards data transmission off-site, live video feeds, monitoring of reactor power levels or other characteristics of safeguards interest.
- The need for IAEA measures to verify the declared usage of hot cells.

5.6. NEXT GENERATION TECHNOLOGY

The next group of Generation IV reactors offer an opportunity to develop or adapt the in-line safeguards measurement or monitoring currently applied to some on-line refuelled reactors. Process monitoring or operational transparency [24] can make more complete use of the facility operator's process instrumentation as an additional safeguards measure. Concerns regarding independence of the results from the operator's control and data authentication are areas of current R&D.

Consideration can be given to the fact that many NDA measurement techniques are dependent on the geometry of the fuel or container, and the heterogeneity or homogeneity of the nuclear material inside the container, including any burnable neutron poisons (which are generally burned up in irradiated fuel). Reducing the variation in the positioning of the item being measured can reduce measurement uncertainties.

If fuel movements are performed without human access and access to fuel storage locations are similarly limited, remote monitoring of the fuel movements by reliable, redundant systems can reduce the need for on-site inspections.

Consideration can be given to improving the automated tools used to collect and review data from multiple sensors, including the necessary infrastructure that connects sensors to electronics, than to the computer systems and on to off-site inspector review stations. Designers can help to eliminate common mode failure paths and can recommend suitable levels of redundancy and backup power to avoid loss of safeguards knowledge during the operating lifetime of the reactor.

Consideration of advanced statistical sampling techniques to monitor the (process) control of the reactor operations can require more notifications by the operator, including more detailed information (i.e. more detailed knowledge of nuclear material locations and movements than currently available), which can require consideration in the facility and operational design.

A major difference of safeguards interest would be the potential co-location of a spent fuel processing facility with the reactor facility. The major safeguards and security advantage of co-locating the reactor, reprocessing and fuel fabrication is the reduction of the transportation between sites of the nuclear materials compared to other nuclear energy systems. However, a bulk (re)processing facility would require more intrusive safeguards measures than the reactor type item accounting facility and unless the two facilities can be easily proven to be separate and distinct, both would receive more intrusive application of safeguards.

Similar concerns exist when pin replacement capability is available on a reactor site. Clear segregation of any hot cells with pin handling equipment from the rest of the nuclear material handling and storage facilities will allow the hot cells to be placed under more stringent safeguards measures without affecting most of the facility's item accounting status.

5.7. GENERATION IV LIQUID FUELLED (MOLTEN SALT) REACTORS

For liquid fuelled (e.g. molten salt) reactors, designers should be aware that such reactors cannot be considered item facilities. Beyond pebble bed reactors, which have countable numbers of semi-distinguishable items, more stringent nuclear material accountancy measures will likely be required to verify the quantities, locations and movements of the nuclear material. These measures can include, but are not limited to, fuel flow monitors, seals, video surveillance, the use of sensors to trigger other sensors, more accurate NDA measurements and sampling plans that select additional items for verification. Most of this instrumentation does not yet exist and a significant R&D effort can be expected.

5.8. FAST REACTORS

Reactors with a fast neutron spectrum are designed to use nuclear material more efficiently by recycling the plutonium found in irradiated fuel and by using more of the ²³⁸U to breed plutonium. As such, fast reactors generally have larger amounts of plutonium present in the fresh and irradiated fuel than is found at LWR facilities. Additionally, some can use HEU driver fuel. From a safeguards perspective, unirradiated plutonium and HEU receive greater attention than irradiated fuel containing plutonium. Therefore, fast reactor facilities are likely to be subject to more frequent inspections involving more measurements or more surveillance, containment and monitoring measures. However, the plutonium produced in the depleted uranium blankets of fast reactors has very limited build in of plutonium isotopes beyond ²³⁹Pu. Consequently, it is more straightforward to accurately measure with existing NDA approaches. Similarly, the plutonium that grows into the irradiated HEU driver assemblies is mostly ²³⁹Pu, and therefore they are easier to measure than LWR irradiated fuel.

Some fast reactor designs under consideration are intended to use fuel containing layers or zones of fertile material or/and minor actinides, or other constituents such as burnable poisons that could require development of new measurement methods and new calibration materials for those methods. Because most fast reactors are in the earlier stages of design maturity with respect to commercial deployment, designers have a greater opportunity to accommodate safeguards in the design. These considerations include:

- Early provision of design information before it is finalized;
- Early discussion of possible safeguards measures;
- Provision of additional information by the State regarding nuclear facilities and activities related to the fuel cycle;
- Hardened, secure storage for plutonium, HEU or transuranic fuel;
- Advanced, redundant surveillance, containment and monitoring systems;
- Continuous, unattended NDA to monitor fuel movements that can distinguish between fissile and fertile and non-nuclear material items;
- The implications of minor actinide bearing fuels on the implementation of safeguards are not well understood and are likely to require R&D [25];

 Clear segregation of any hot cells and pin handling equipment from the rest of the reactor facility to allow them to be placed under more stringent safeguards measures without affecting the majority of the facility's item accounting status.

REFERENCES

- INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, International Safeguards in Nuclear Facility Design and Construction, IAEA Nuclear Energy Series No. NP-T-2.8, IAEA, Vienna (2013).
- [2] BLANCHARD, B., System Engineering Management, 4th edn, Wiley, New York (2008).
- [3] BJORNARD, T., BEAN, R., DURST, P.C., HOCKERT, J., MORGAN, J., Implementing Safeguards-by-Design, INL/EXT-09–17085, Idaho National Laboratory (2010).
- [4] OKKO, O., HONKAMAA, T., KUUSI, A., HÄMÄLÄINEN, M., New Nuclear Power Reactors to Finland: Safeguards, Security and Safety Considerations in Design (Proc. 33rd Conf. Budapest, 2011) ESARDA, Ispra, Italy (2011).
- [5] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Governmental, Legal and Regulatory Framework for Safety, IAEA Safety Standards No. GSR Part 1, IAEA, Vienna (2010).
- [6] CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE, Nuclear Power Plant Exporters' Principles of Conduct (2008), www.nuclearprinciples.org
- [7] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safety of Nuclear Power Plants: Design, IAEA Safety Standards No. SSR-2/1, IAEA, Vienna (2012).
- [8] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Guidance for States Implementing Comprehensive Safeguards Agreements and Additional Protocols, IAEA Services Series 21, IAEA, Vienna (2012).
- [9] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, IAEA Safeguards Glossary (2001 Edition), International Nuclear Verification Series 3, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [10] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, The Safeguards System of the International Atomic Energy Agency (2013), http://www.iaea.org/safeguards/documents/safeg_system.pdf
- [11] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Nuclear Material Accounting Handbook, IAEA Services Series 15, IAEA, Vienna (2008).
- [12] BOYER, B., SCHANFEIN, M., "International safeguards inspection: an inside look at the process", Nuclear Safeguards, Security, and Non-proliferation, Elsevier, Oxford (2008) Ch. 5.
- [13] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safeguards Technical Report, International Target Values 2010 for Measurement Uncertainties in Safeguarding Nuclear Materials, Safeguards Technical Report STR-368, IAEA, Vienna (2010).
- [14] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safeguards Techniques and Equipment (2011 Edition), International Nuclear Verification Series No. 1 (Rev. 2), IAEA, Vienna (2011).
- [15] INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL ON SYSTEMS ENGINEERING, Systems Engineering Handbook, Version 3.1., INCOSE, San Diego, CA (2007).
- [16] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Design Measures to Facilitate Implementation of Safeguards at Future Water Cooled Nuclear Power Plants, Technical Reports Series No. 392, IAEA, Vienna (1998).
- [17] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Guidance for the Application of an Assessment Methodology for Innovative Nuclear Energy Systems, INPRO Manual — Proliferation Resistance, Volume 5 of the Final Report of Phase 1 of the International Project on Innovative Nuclear Reactors and Fuel Cycles (INPRO), IAEA-TECDOC-1575 Rev. 1, IAEA, Vienna (2007).
- [18] GENERATION IV INTERNATIONAL FORUM, Evaluation Methodology for Proliferation Resistance and Physical Protection of Generation IV Nuclear Energy Systems, Revision 6, The Proliferation Resistance and Physical Protection Evaluation Methodology Working Group, GIF, Issy-les-Moulineaux, France (2011).
- [19] GENERATION IV INTERNATIONAL FORUM, Evaluation Methodology for Proliferation Resistance and Physical Protection of Generation IV Nuclear Energy Systems, Technical Addendum to Revision 5 (2007) The Proliferation Resistance and Physical Protection, Evaluation Methodology Working Group, GIF, Issy-les-Moulineaux, France.
- [20] WHITLOCK, J., SPRINKLE, J., Proliferation Resistance Considerations for Remote Small Modular Reactors, AECL Nucl. Rev.1 2 (2012) 9–12.
- [21] PAN, P., BOYER, B., MURPHY, C., Safeguards by Design (SBD): Safeguards Guidance for Research Reactors and Critical Assemblies, Report No. LA-UR-12–26349, Los Alamos National Laboratory, NM (2012).
- [22] BINFORD, F.T., Diversion Assumptions for High-Power Research Reactors, Report No. ORNL-6022, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, TN (1984).
- [23] TOMANIN, A., PEERANI, P., JANSSENS-MAENHOUT, G., "Non-proliferation Issues Related to Misuse of Research Reactors", Proc. 51st Mtg Institute of Nuclear Materials Management, Baltimore, MD, 2010, INMM, Deerfield, IL (2010).
- [24] WHITLOCK, J., "Application of safeguards by design to the reactor design process", paper presented at the Third International Meeting on Next Generation Safeguards, Washington, DC, 2010.
- [25] RENDA, G., ALIM, F., COJAZZI, G.G.M., PEERANI, P., "Material type and safeguardability considerations for innovative sodium fast reactors fuel including different minor actinides compositions", Proc. 53rd Ann. Mtg Institute of Nuclear Materials Management Meeting, Orlando, Florida, USA INMM, Deerfield, IL (2012).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BARI, R.A., et al., Overview of the Facility Safeguardability Analysis (FSA) Process, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Report No. PNNL-20829, US Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, TN (2011).

COJAZZI, G.G.M., RENDA, G., SEVINI F., "Proliferation resistance characteristics of advanced nuclear energy systems: a safeguardability point of view", ESARDA Bull. **39** (2008) 31–40.

DURST, P.C., et al, Advanced Safeguards Approaches for New Fast Reactors, Pacific Northwest Laboratory report, PNNL-17168 (December 2007).

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY (Vienna)

Facility Design and Plant Operation Features that Facilitate the Implementation of IAEA Safeguards, IAEA-STR-360 (2009), http://www.iaea.org/safeguards/documents/STR_360_external_version.pdf

Milestones in the Development of a National Infrastructure for Nuclear Power, IAEA Nuclear Energy Series No. NG-G-3.1 (2007).

Model Protocol Additional to the Agreement(s) Between State(s) and the International Atomic Energy Agency for the Application of Safeguards, INFCIRC/540 (corrected), (1997).

Project Management in Nuclear Power Plant Construction: Guidelines and Experience, IAEA Nuclear Energy Series NP-T-2.7 (2012).

Strengthening of Agency Safeguards, The Provision of and Use of Design Information, GOV/2554/Att. 2/Rev. 2.

The Structure and Content of Agreements Between the Agency and States Required in Connection with the Treaty on the Non-proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/153 (Corrected), (1972).

Use of Nuclear Material Accounting and Control for Nuclear Security at Facilities (in preparation).

SEVINI, F., RENDA, G., SIDLOVA, V., A Safeguardability Check-List for Safeguards by Design, Proceedings of ESARDA, 33rd Symposium, Budapest, 16–19 May 2011, ISBN 978–92–79–18525–0.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY, Safeguards-By-Design Facility Guidance Series, Washington, DC

Guidance for Research Reactors and Critical Assemblies (2012) Guidance for High Temperature Gas Reactors (HTGRs) with Prismatic Fuel (2012) Guidance for High Temperature Gas Reactors (HTGRs) with Pebble Fuel (2012) Safeguards Guidenace for for GEN III/III+ Light Water Reactors (2011)

Third International Meeting on Next Generation Safeguards - Safeguards by Design, (Proc. Mtg Washington, DC, 2010) (2010).

ABBREVIATIONS

These abbreviations are commonly used in international safeguards, but are not necessarily used in this introductory publication.

AP	Additional protocol (INFCIRC/540 (Corrected))
СоК	Continuity of knowledge
DA	Destructive analysis
DIQ	Design information questionnaire
DIV	Design information verification
HEU	High enriched uranium
HTGR	High temperature gas cooled reactor
IAEA	International Atomic Energy Agency
INFCIRC	IAEA information circular
KMP	Key measurement point
LEU	Low enriched uranium
LOFs	Locations outside facilities
LWR	Light water reactor
MBA	Material balance area
MOX	Mixed oxide
NDA	Nondestructive assay
NGSS	Next generation surveillance system
NPT	Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons
PIT	Physical inventory taking
PIV	Physical inventory verification
RRCA	Research reactor or critical assembly
RSAC	Regional system of accounting for and control of nuclear material
SBD	Safeguards by design
SMR	Small modular reactor ¹
SRA	Safeguards regulatory authority
SSAC	State system of accounting for and control of nuclear material
UI	Unannounced inspection

¹ This abbreviation (SMR) has also been used for 'small or medium sized reactor' in other IAEA publications.

Annex I

TERMINOLOGY

Safeguards has developed its own lexicon and applies specialized meanings to many words in common everyday usage. This annex offers simple definitions for this terminology. Some definitions in safeguards usage include metrics or examples. More complete definitions as well as translations of these terms into eight languages can be found in the IAEA Safeguards Glossary [5].

GENERAL

- **safeguardability.** The degree of ease with which a nuclear energy system or facility can be effectively and efficiently placed under international safeguards.¹
- **short notice random inspection.** An inspection performed both on short notice, i.e. less advance notice, e.g. 24 hours, is given by the IAEA to the State than that provided for under para. 83 of INFCIRC/153 (corrected), and on a date chosen randomly.
- **unannounced inspections.** An inspection performed at a facility or a location outside facilities for which no advance notice is provided by the IAEA to the State before the arrival of IAEA inspectors.

NUCLEAR MATERIAL

- **direct use material.** Nuclear material that can be used for the manufacture of nuclear explosives components without transmutation or further enrichment.
- high enriched uranium. Uranium enriched to 20% ²³⁵U or more.
- **holdup.** Nuclear material deposits remaining in and about process equipment, interconnecting piping, filters and adjacent work areas.
- low enriched uranium. Uranium enriched to less than 20% ²³⁵U.

mixed oxide. A mixture of the oxides of uranium and plutonium.

- scrap². Rejected nuclear material removed from the product stream, containing nuclear material that is economic to recover and recycle.
- **waste**². Rejected nuclear material in concentrations or forms which do not permit economic recovery and which is designated for disposal.

NUCLEAR INSTALLATIONS AND EQUIPMENT

heavy water. The highly enriched form of water (>99.5% D₂O, where D denotes the isotope of hydrogen of mass number 2).

¹ From FIG/PRPP working group.

² INFCIRC/153 (corrected).

- **heavy water reactor.** A power reactor moderated by heavy water. A prominent example is the Canadian deuterium uranium (CANDU) type reactor.
- **item facilities.** Nuclear facilities where all nuclear material is contained in identifiable items (e.g. fuel assemblies), the integrity of which remains unaltered during their residence at the facility.
- **locations outside facilities.** Locations containing small quantities of nuclear material outside of the principle nuclear facilities. Typical examples include universities, medical hospitals or small research companies.
- **off-load fuelled power reactor.** A reactor which is (re)fuelled while it is shut down and the generator(s) disconnected from the power grid.
- on load fuelled power reactor. A reactor which is refuelled while operating and producing power.
- **safeguards essential equipment.** A list of equipment, systems and structures essential for the declared operation of a facility. *Safeguards* essential equipment is often different from *safety* essential equipment.

NUCLEAR MATERIAL ACCOUNTANCY

- **authentication.** Measures providing assurance that genuine information has originated from a known source (sensor) and has not been altered, removed or replaced.
- **book inventory**⁴ of an MBA. The algebraic sum of the most recent physical inventory of that material balance area and of all inventory changes that have occurred since that physical inventory was taken.
- **continuity of knowledge**. Assurance that the safeguards relevant data (e.g. identity and integrity of the item, item contents or flow and inventory of nuclear material) remains valid.³
- declarations. Information submitted to the IAEA by a safeguards authority.
- **design information.** A comprehensive description of the facility and its operation relevant to safeguards submitted to the IAEA by a State.
- **inventory verification.** An IAEA safeguards inspection activity involving a physical nuclear material inventory within a material balance area carried out to verify the operator's book inventory of nuclear material present at a given time within that material balance area.
- **key measurement point.**⁴ A location where nuclear material appears in such a form that it may be measured to determine material flow or inventory. 'Key measurement points' thus include, but are not limited to, the inputs and outputs (including measured discards) and storages in material balance areas.
- **material balance area.**⁴ An area in or outside of a facility such that: (a) the quantity of nuclear material in each transfer into or out of each 'material balance area' can be determined; and (b) the physical inventory of nuclear material in each 'material balance area' can be determined when necessary, in accordance with specified procedures, in order that the [nuclear] material balance for IAEA safeguards purposes can be established.
- material balance period. Term used to refer to the time between two consecutive physical inventory takings.
- **material unaccounted for.**⁴ The difference between the book inventory in the facility records and the physical inventory.

³ Usage illustrated in the Safeguards Glossary, but not defined.

- **Non-destructive assay.** Measurement of the nuclear material content, or the elemental or isotopic concentration of an item, without producing significant physical or chemical changes in the item.
- **nuclear material accountancy.** The practice of nuclear material accounting by the facility operator and, in addition, the verification and evaluation of this accounting system by a safeguards authority and/or the IAEA.
- **physical inventory.**⁴ The sum of all the measured or derived estimates of batch quantities of nuclear material on hand at a given time within a material balance area, obtained in accordance with specified procedures.
- **remote monitoring.** A technique whereby safeguards data from equipment installed in a facility and operating unattended are transmitted off-site via communications networks for review and evaluation.
- **safeguards approach.** A set of nuclear material accountancy, containment, surveillance and other measures chosen by the IAEA for the implementation of safeguards in a given situation.
- **safeguards regulatory authority.**⁴ The State's primary coordinating body responsible to ensure effective implementation of IAEA safeguards. This authority may or may not include the regulatory authority.
- **unattended monitoring.** Non-destructive assay or containment and surveillance measures, or a combination, that operates for extended periods without inspector intervention.

SURVEILLANCE, CONTAINMENT AND MONITORING

- **containment.** Structural features of a nuclear facility or equipment which enable the IAEA to establish the physical integrity of an area or item by preventing undetected access to or movement of nuclear or other material, or interference with an item, IAEA safeguards equipment or data.⁵
- seal. A tamper indicating device used to join movable segments of containment in such a manner that access to the contents without opening of the seal or breaking of the containment is difficult.
- **surveillance.** The collection of information through inspector and/or instrumental observation aimed at the monitoring of the movement of nuclear material or the detection of interference with containment and tampering with IAEA safeguards devices, samples and/or data.
- tampering. Interference in an unauthorized and undeclared manner to physically defeat a containment and surveillance device.

⁴ INFCIRC/153 (corrected).

⁵ This definition differs from that generally used in safety.

Annex II

DIQ INFORMATION

The following information is written at an introductory level for an audience unfamiliar with IAEA design information questionnaires (DIQs). Official templates are available from the relevant IAEA Department of Safeguards country officer or from the IAEA Headquarters in Vienna.

Reactor DIQ information includes as a minimum:

- Facility name, location, address, owner, operator, status, purpose, etc.;
- Facility description, including general flow diagrams;
- Rated thermal output, electrical output;
- Number of units (reactors) and site layout;
- Reactor type;
- Type of refuelling (on or off load);
- The reactor core's U enrichment range and Pu concentration;
- Moderator;
- Coolant;
- Blanket, reflector;
- Types of fresh fuel;
- Fresh fuel enrichment (²³⁵U) and/or Pu content;
- Nominal weight of fuel in elements or assemblies;
- Physical and chemical form of fresh fuel;
- Reactor assembly details: e.g. types, cladding, structural details, number of fuel, control and shim elements;
- Description of fresh fuel elements: e.g. chemical form, dimensions, number of pellets, cladding, bonding;
- Provision for element exchange in assemblies (for each type);
- Basic accounting units (e.g. fuel elements, assemblies);
- Means of nuclear material identification;
- Other nuclear material in the facility;
- Schematic flow sheet identifying measurement points, storage/inventory locations;
- Expected inventory/capacity;
 - Fresh fuel storage;
 - Reactor core;
 - Spent fuel storage;
 - Other locations;
- Reactor load factor;
- Reactor core loading (number of elements/assemblies);
- Refuelling details (quantity, time interval);
- Burnup (average/maximum);
- Whether the irradiated fuel is to be processed or stored;
- Nuclear material handling details, including:
 - Layout;
 - Storage plans (drawings);
 - Staging areas;
 - Transfers (including equipment such as refuelling machines and cranes);
 - Routes followed by nuclear material;
- Reactor vessel details, core diagram, flow diagrams (drawings);
- Average neutron flux in core (thermal and fast);
- Instrumentation for measuring neutron and gamma flux;
- Irradiated fuel details:
 - Storage method, capacity;
 - Cooling periods;
 - Handling and routes followed;

- Equipment;
- Description of transport casks;
- Maximum activity of fuel/blanket;
- Nuclear material testing areas, including equipment available, shipping containers;
- Basic measures for physical protection;
- Basic measures for radiation safety including rules for inspector compliance;
- Description of nuclear material accountancy and control:
 - Facility ledgers, reports;
 - Source data;
 - Nuclear loss and production in-reactor;
 - Shipping/receiving;
 - PIV procedures;
 - Methods for corrections and adjustments;
 - Surveillance, containment and monitoring features;
 - Measurement points, measurement methods, level of accuracy, calibration details;
 - Procedures to access nuclear material;
- Optional information the operator considers relevant to safeguards.

Annex III

IDENTIFYING SAFEGUARDABILITY ISSUES

This Annex¹ describes a facility safeguardability analysis approach. It can be used as a structured approach to understand and identify potential safeguards issues. If the operator is building or modifying a standardized facility design for which a well understood safeguards approach exists, the effort to analyse its safeguardability will likely be very modest. However, it may be possible to make existing safeguards tools and measures more efficient with slight modifications to the design, configuration or operating procedures.

A greater effort to assess facility safeguardability might be warranted for facilities that include novel design features or that present particular safeguards challenges. The design team can include an international safeguards expert to help the team prepare for interaction with the safeguards authority and/or the IAEA. Innovative designs that are different from those for which IAEA safeguards approaches are established can present safeguards problems that could be considered by the designer, who could help mitigate them or help accommodate innovative safeguards tools and measures.

Potential safeguards issues can arise from design differences to:

- Utilize different isotopic, chemical or physical forms of the nuclear material;
- Create additional or alter existing diversion paths;
- Create different nuclear material categories for measurement;
- Alter nuclear material flows or pathways;
- Increase the difficulty of design information examination and verification;
- Impede the IAEA's capability to verify that diversion has not taken place;
- Create a new or alter an existing potential for the facility to be misused.

The following screening questions are designed to highlight safeguards relevant issues in a facility design.

TABLE III-1. FACILITY SAFEGUARDABILITY ASSESSMENT

Fac	Facility safeguardability assessment screening questions								
1.	Does this design differ from the comparison design/process in ways that have the potential to create additional diversion paths or alter existing diversion paths?								
	1.1.	Does this design introduce nuclear material of a type, category or form that may have a different significant quantity (SQ) or detection time objective than previous designs (e.g. mixed oxide rather than low enriched uranium, irradiated vs. unirradiated or bulk vs. item)?	Yes/No						
	1.2.	Does this design layout eliminate or modify physical barriers that would prevent the removal of nuclear material from process or material balance areas (e.g. circumvent a key measurement point (KMP)?)	Yes/No						
	1.3.	Does this design obscure process areas or material balance area (MBA) boundaries making surveillance, containment and monitoring or installation of measurement and monitoring equipment more difficult?	Yes/No						
	1.4.	Does this design introduce materials that could be effectively substituted for safeguarded material to conceal diversion?	Yes/No						

¹ Reproduced with permission from: BARI, R.A., et al., Facility Safeguardability Assessment Report, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Report, PNNL-20829 (October 2011).

TABLE III-1. FACILITY SAFEGUARDABILITY ASSESSMENT (cont.)

Fac	cility safeguardability assessment screening questions	
2.	Does this design differ from the comparison design in a way that increases the difficulty of design information examination and verification by IAEA inspectors?	Yes/No
	2.1. Does the design incorporate new or modified technology? If so, does the IAEA have experience with the ne or modified technology?	ew Yes/No
	2.2. Are there new design features with commercial or security sensitivities that would inhibit or preclude IAEA inspector access to equipment or information?	Yes/No
	2.3. Do aspects of the design limit or preclude inspector access to, or the continuous availability of, essential equipment for verification or testing?	Yes/No
	2.4. Are there aspects of the design that would preclude or limit IAEA maintenance of continuity of knowledge (CoK) during the life of the facility?	Yes/No
3.	Does this design/process differ from the comparison design/process in a way that makes it more difficult to verify that diversion has not taken place?	y Yes/No
	3.1. Does this design lessen the efficiency of physical inventory taking (PIT) by the operator or the effectivenes physical inventory verification (PIV) by the IAEA?	s of Yes/No
	3.2. Does this design impair the ability of the operator to produce timely and accurate interim inventory declaration or of the IAEA to perform timely and accurate interim inventory verification (IIV)?	tions Yes/No
	3.3. Does this design impede timely and accurate inventory change measurements and declarations by the opera and verification by the IAEA?	tor Yes/No
	3.4. Does this design impede the introduction of or reduce the usefulness of other strategic points within the material balance area (MBA)?	Yes/No
4.	Does this design differ from the comparison design in ways that create new, or alter existing, opportunities for facility misuse or make detection of misuse more difficult?	Yes/No
	4.1. Does this design differ from the comparison facility/process by including new equipment or process steps the could change the nuclear material being processed to a type, category or form with lower significant quanti (SQ) or detection time objectives?	
	4.2. If the comparison facility safeguards approach employs agreed upon short notice visits or inspections, measurements or process parameter confirmations, would this design preclude the use of, or reduce the effectiveness of, these measures?	Yes/No
	4.3. Do the design and operating procedures reduce the transparency of plant operations (e.g. availability of operating records and reports or source data for inspector examination or limited inspector access to plant a and equipment)?	Yes/No reas

Annex IV

MATRIX OF SAFEGUARDS DETAILS FOR CONSIDERATION

The following matrix in Fig. IV–1 is drawn from the references and the bibliography and is intended to be illustrative rather than comprehensive. It is available from the Division of Concepts and Planning in the IAEA Department of Safeguards as a spreadsheet and can be sorted according to the designer's interests.

Design features that have safeguards relevance are listed in the left hand column.

The other column headings denote:

- Five project phases (preconceptual design, conceptual design, preliminary final design, construction and operation);
- General, widely applicable considerations;
- Access related (layout or infrastructure);
- Reactor operations processes (related to fresh fuel, reactor operations, irradiated fuel, spent fuel transfer, interim storage of irradiated fuel);
- Type of reactor (LWR, small, RRCA, Gen IV, MOX fuelled, on load);
- Types of safeguards measures (design information verification, accountancy, surveillance, containment and monitoring, measurements, data collection and inspections).

A preliminary sorting according to these categories has been begun as an example. It is assumed that each site or reactor design will have specific details that would build upon this preliminary list of considerations and categories.

	Project phases				Ac	cess	s Processes					Type of facility						Safeguards measures								
	Conceptual design	Basic design	Final design	Construction	Operation	Decommissioning	General	Layout (rooms +access)	Infrastructure	Fresh fuel	Reactor operations	Irradiated fuel (SF)	SF transfer	Interim storage	LWR	Small (modular) reactors	Research reactors	Generation IV reactors	Reactors with MOX fuel	On load reactors	DIV	NM accountancy verification	c/s	Measurements	Data collection	Inspections
Fuel paths are simple and clear Organize fuel transport so it is easy to distinguish fuel from non-fuel																										
Organize fuel transport so it is easy to distinguish routine from non- routine movements																										
Minimize access points in barriers around nuclear material																										
Provide access for inspectors to verify barrier is still intact															_	\downarrow	_	_								
Minimize radiation exposure to inspectors Select equipment locations that protect equipment								_						-	-	+	-	_			_					\square
Select equipment locations to minimize impact on operations																										
Provision of structures for maintaining sensors (ladder, platform,)																										
Provide adequate illumination and adequate viewing angles Facilitate inspector activities	-													_	_	+	-	_								\vdash
Provision of supportive facilities and services (changing rooms,																1								_		
inspector's office space, etc.)														_	_	_	_	_								
Clearly label equipment relevant to safeguards Physical protection of seals from accidental damage	-	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	-		\vdash	-	-		\vdash	\square		+	+	+	+	-		-	_	_		\neg		\square
Unique identifiers or labels for nuclear material items																										
Easy to read identifiers or labels for nuclear material items (and	1			1	T								T	T	T	T	T	Ţ	Τ	T	T	1	1	Τ		
adequate illumination) Tamper proof identifiers or labels for nuclear material items	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	-		\vdash	-		\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	_	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	\dashv		\square
Authenticated identifiers or labels for nuclear material items																										
Ability to collect data on site, but analyze off site														_	_	_	_									
Minimize need to revisit site ro resolve questions Facilitate transmission of safeguards information off site (seperate							_				_			_	_	+	-	_	_					\rightarrow		\vdash
network, inspector)																										
Protect sensitive or proprietary information															_	_										
Support for unattended and remote monitoring Authentication of data (sensors)														-	_	+	_	_			_			-		\vdash
Reduce vulnerability to equipment failures (e.g. reliable, redundant,																										
battery backed up)														_				_								
Layout of storage of fuel to allow progressive verification and sealing of groups of assemblies without affecting nuclear material already under																										
seal																										
Adequate space, support, and illumination to handle, identify, and conduct measurements on fuel																										
Arrange fuel in store to minimize need to move fuel to access specific																1								-		
assemblies																										
Suitable mounting for permanent and temporary sensors (camera,) Inspector use of automated readout of location and assembly being														_	_	+	_	_								
moved																										
Ability to seal fuel transport paths/equipment																										
Fresh MOX fuel loading monitoring capability (surveillance from delivery till start-up reactor)																										
Provision for fresh MOX segregation																1								-		
Arrangements for sealing the nuclear material in the core (e.g. the					T								T	T	T	T	Τ	Τ	Τ	Τ	T	T				
missile shield or reactor slab) Mounting of monitoring/surveillance during core opening activities	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	\dashv		\vdash	-		\vdash	\vdash	\vdash		+	+	+	+	-	+	+	\neg	_	\neg	\dashv		\square
verification, e.g. capability to see tops of assemblies, very deep core								L																		
Provide for in core fuel verification capability				Щ	Щ										1	1	7		1	П	Д			\square		Г
Provision for monitoring discharges (core discharge monitors, bundle counters, surveillance, etc.)	1																									
Maintain water quality & clarity in pools																										
Easy to apply C/S to Used Fuel Storage & Shipping Areas	1		Ц	Щ	Ţ		Ц	\vdash		\square	Ц	\square		4	4	_	Ţ		_	Ţ	4	_	_			Щ
Arrangements for mounting surveillance equipment Room lighting selected to avoid UV light interference with ICVD imager	-	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	+		\vdash	-			\vdash	\vdash		+	+	+	+	-	+	┥	-			\rightarrow		\square
(Cherenkov Glow)																										
Storage racks in a single layer permits viewing of top of each																										
assembly/readout of identifier Provision to seal lower layers in fuel store, if multiple layers	$\left \right $	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	\neg		\vdash	-	-	\square	\vdash	\vdash		+	+	+	+		+	+	-			\neg		\square
An indexing system to identify specific assembly locations from fuel	1													1	T	↑	T									
handling control point (automated)	-			\vdash	-			_	-	\vdash	\vdash			\rightarrow	+	+	\rightarrow	-	-	\rightarrow	_			-+		\vdash
Water clarity maintained to facilitate identification and measurements of assemblies																										
Provision for NDA verification in SFP for all types of fuel present																										
Monitoring of of fuel transfers (as much as possible in remote mode) How does inspector verify fuel assembly reconstitution ?	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash			\vdash	-		\vdash	\vdash		_	+	+	+	+	-				_		\dashv		\vdash
Nuclear material storage times at reactor should be minimized, if	\vdash			H		_	\square				\vdash	\square		+	+	╉	+	+	+					\dashv		\square
possible	<u> </u>	\square	\square	Ц			Щ	_		H	Ц	Ц		\dashv	+	+	+	-						\dashv		\vdash
MOX fresh fuel containers sealing arrangement The layout of the pond should allow complete monitoring/surveillance	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	H			\vdash	-		\vdash	\vdash	\vdash		+	+	+	+	+	+		+		-	\dashv	_	\square
Provision for transfer cask/flask monitoring equipment (infrastructure,	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	H		_	\vdash	⊢		\vdash	\vdash	\vdash		+	+	+	+	\neg	+		-			\dashv	_	\square
active support from the operator, for installation and use,)	1			Ц										_		4								$ \rightarrow$		\square
Provision for monitoring spent fuel transfers Infrastructure at dry storage for containment, monitoring, surveillance,	-	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	-		\vdash	-		$\left \right $	\vdash	\vdash		+	+	+	+		+	┥	-			-+		$\left - \right $
including layout & design of casks/silos	1																									
·				·				-													_	-	-			

FIG. IV-1. Matrix of safeguards details for consideration by designers or operators.

CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW

Ansaranta, T.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority, Finland
Aoki, K.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Beatty, R.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Bruno, A.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Button, P.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, Canada
Calma, D.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Catton, A.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Cazalet, J.	Commissariat à l'Énergie Atomique, France
Chahid, A.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Ciuculescu, C.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Cohen-Unger, S.	Consultant, Australia
Cojazzi, G.	Joint Research Centre, European Commission
Cooley, J.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Dams, C.	Federal Agency for Nuclear Control, Belgium
Durbin, K.	Department of Energy, United States of America
Fairbairn Tuley, N.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Fernandez Moreno, S.	Brazilian-Argentine Agency for Accounting and Control of Nuclear Materials, Argentina
Francis, S.	National Nuclear Laboratory, United Kingdom
Habjouqa, A.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Hanks, D.	Nuclear Regulatory Commission, United States of America
Homer, A.	Sellafield Ltd. United Kingdom
Honghe, Y.	China Institute of Atomic Energy, China
Honkamaa, T.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority, Finland
Hori, M.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Inoue, T.	Central Research Institute of the Electric Power Industry, Japan
Janin, V.	AREVA, France
Johnson, S.	Springfields Fuel Fabrication, United Kingdom
Kavka, A.	DG Energy, European Commission
Killeen, T.	International Atomic Energy Agency

Koutsoyannopoulos, C.	DG Energy, European Commission
Kovacic, D.	International Atomic Energy Agency
LeBrun, A.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Martikka, E.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority, Finland
Miller, M.	Los Alamos National Laboratory, United States of America
Niemeyer, I.	Forschungszentrum Jülich, Germany
Okko, O.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority, Finland
Orton, C.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, United States of America
Ozols, A.	DG Energy, European Communities
Pederson, A.	Oak Ridge National Laboratory, United States of America
Peixoto, O.	Brazilian-Argentine Agency for Accounting and Control of Nuclear Materials, Brazil
Phillips, J.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Pickett, S.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Plumb, E.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Poirier, S.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Portaix, C.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Pshakin, G.	Institute of Physics and Power Engineering, Russian Federation
Qun, Y.	Consultant, China
Raymond, P.	Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique, France
Remagen, H.	Consultant, Germany
Renda, G.	European Commission
Rezniczek, A.	UBA Unternehmensberatung, Germany
Schanfein, M.	Idaho National Laboratory, United States of America
Seppala, M.	Fennovoima OY, Finland
Sidlova, V.	State Office for Nuclear Safety, Czech Republic
Sprinkle, J.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Starz, A.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Stein, G.	Consultant, Germany
Stein, M.	Canberra Industries (AREVA), France
Swan, K.	International Atomic Energy Agency

Tushingham, J.	National Nuclear Laboratory, United Kingdom
Van der Meer, K.	Belgian Nuclear Research Center, Belgium
Van Sickle, M.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Wonder, E.	Consultant, United States of America

Consultants Meetings

Vienna Austria, 28-31 October 2008; 11-14 September 2012

and Decommissioning Objectives NW-O **Radioactive Waste Management** 2. Decommissioning of Nuclear Facilities Nuclear Fuel (NF), Report (T), Spent Fuel Management and Reprocessing (topic 3), #6 1. Radioactive Waste Management 3. Site Remediation Nuclear General (NG), Guide, Nuclear Infrastructure and Planning (topic 3), #1 Nuclear Power (NP), Report (T), Research Reactors (topic 5), #4 NW-G-1.# NW-T-1.# NW-G-3.# NW-T-3.# NW-T-2.# NW-G-2.# Radioactive Waste Management and Decommissioning (NW), Guide, 3. Spent Fuel Management and Reprocessing 5. Research Reactors — Nuclear Fuel Cycle 2. Fuel Engineering and Performance Nuclear Fuel Cycle Objectives 4. Fuel Cycles NF-G-4.# NF-T-4.# 1. Resources NF-G-1.# NF-T-1.# NF-T-3.# NF-T-2.# NF-T-5.# NF-G-2.# NF-G-5.# NF-G-3.# Radioactive Waste (topic 1), #1 NF-O Nuclear Energy Basic Principles NE-BP 2. Design and Construction of Nuclear Power Plants NG-G-3.1: NW-G-1.1: 3. Operation of Nuclear Power Plants NP-G-3.# Examples NP-T-5.4: NF-T-3.6: 1. Technology Development NP-G-1,# NP-T-1,# 4. Non-Electrical Applications Nuclear Power Objectives 5. Research Reactors NP-G-2.# NP-G-5.# NP-T-5.# NP-T-2.# NP-G-4.# NP-T-3.# NP-T-4.# NP-O Topic designations Guide or Report number (1, 2, 3, 4, etc.) 3. Nuclear Infrastructure and Planning Nuclear General Objectives 1. Management Systems NG-G-1.# NG-T-1.# 5. Energy System Analysis NG-G-5.# 6. Knowledge Management Technical Reports 2. Human Resources **Basic Principles** 4. Economics NG-G-4.# NG-T-4.# NG-G-2.# NG-G-6.# NG-T-6.# NG-G-3.# NG-T-2.# NG-T-3.# NG-T-5.# 0-9N Objectives Guides Хеу BP: O: 1. 1. 1. 6: #: 8: 1-6:

Structure of the IAEA Nuclear Energy Series



ORDERING LOCALLY

In the following countries, IAEA priced publications may be purchased from the sources listed below or from major local booksellers.

Orders for unpriced publications should be made directly to the IAEA. The contact details are given at the end of this list.

AUSTRALIA

DA Information Services

648 Whitehorse Road, Mitcham, VIC 3132, AUSTRALIA Telephone: +61 3 9210 7777 • Fax: +61 3 9210 7788 Email: books@dadirect.com.au • Web site: http://www.dadirect.com.au

BELGIUM

Jean de Lannoy Avenue du Roi 202, 1190 Brussels, BELGIUM Telephone: +32 2 5384 308 • Fax: +32 2 5380 841 Email: jean.de.lannoy@euronet.be • Web site: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be

CANADA

Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd.

5369 Canotek Road, Ottawa, ON K1J 9J3, CANADA Telephone: +1 613 745 2665 • Fax: +1 643 745 7660 Email: order@renoufbooks.com • Web site: http://www.renoufbooks.com

Bernan Associates

4501 Forbes Blvd., Suite 200, Lanham, MD 20706-4391, USA Telephone: +1 800 865 3457 • Fax: +1 800 865 3450 Email: orders@bernan.com • Web site: http://www.bernan.com

CZECH REPUBLIC

Suweco CZ, spol. S.r.o. Klecakova 347, 180 21 Prague 9, CZECH REPUBLIC Telephone: +420 242 459 202 • Fax: +420 242 459 203 Email: nakup@suweco.cz • Web site: http://www.suweco.cz

FINLAND

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa PO Box 128 (Keskuskatu 1), 00101 Helsinki, FINLAND Telephone: +358 9 121 41 • Fax: +358 9 121 4450 Email: akatilaus@akateeminen.com • Web site: http://www.akateeminen.com

FRANCE

Form-Edit

5 rue Janssen, PO Box 25, 75921 Paris CEDEX, FRANCE Telephone: +33 1 42 01 49 49 • Fax: +33 1 42 01 90 90 Email: fabien.boucard@formedit.fr • Web site: http://www.formedit.fr

Lavoisier SAS

14 rue de Provigny, 94236 Cachan CEDEX, FRANCE Telephone: +33 1 47 40 67 00 • Fax: +33 1 47 40 67 02 Email: livres@lavoisier.fr • Web site: http://www.lavoisier.fr

L'Appel du livre

99 rue de Charonne, 75011 Paris, FRANCE Telephone: +33 1 43 07 50 80 • Fax: +33 1 43 07 50 80 Email: livres@appeldulivre.fr • Web site: http://www.appeldulivre.fr

GERMANY

Goethe Buchhandlung Teubig GmbH

Schweitzer Fachinformationen Willstätterstrasse 15, 40549 Düsseldorf, GERMANY Telephone: +49 (0) 211 49 8740 • Fax: +49 (0) 211 49 87428 Email: s.dehaan@schweitzer-online.de • Web site: http://www.goethebuch.de

HUNGARY

Librotade Ltd., Book Import PF 126, 1656 Budapest, HUNGARY Telephone: +36 1 257 7777 • Fax: +36 1 257 7472 Email: books@librotade.hu • Web site: http://www.librotade.hu

INDIA

Allied Publishers

1st Floor, Dubash House, 15, J.N. Heredi Marg, Ballard Estate, Mumbai 400001, INDIA Telephone: +91 22 2261 7926/27 • Fax: +91 22 2261 7928 Email: alliedpl@vsnl.com • Web site: http://www.alliedpublishers.com

Bookwell

3/79 Nirankari, Delhi 110009, INDIA Telephone: +91 11 2760 1283/4536 Email: bkwell@nde.vsnl.net.in • Web site: http://www.bookwellindia.com

ITALY

Libreria Scientifica "AEIOU"

Via Vincenzo Maria Coronelli 6, 20146 Milan, ITALY Telephone: +39 02 48 95 45 52 • Fax: +39 02 48 95 45 48 Email: info@libreriaaeiou.eu • Web site: http://www.libreriaaeiou.eu

JAPAN

Maruzen Co., Ltd. 1-9-18 Kaigan, Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0022, JAPAN Telephone: +81 3 6367 6047 • Fax: +81 3 6367 6160 Email: journal@maruzen.co.jp • Web site: http://maruzen.co.jp

NETHERLANDS

Martinus Nijhoff International Koraalrood 50, Postbus 1853, 2700 CZ Zoetermeer, NETHERLANDS Telephone: +31 793 684 400 • Fax: +31 793 615 698 Email: info@nijhoff.nl • Web site: http://www.nijhoff.nl

Swets Information Services Ltd.

PO Box 26, 2300 AA Leiden Dellaertweg 9b, 2316 WZ Leiden, NETHERLANDS Telephone: +31 88 4679 387 • Fax: +31 88 4679 388 Email: tbeysens@nl.swets.com • Web site: http://www.swets.com

SLOVENIA

Cankarjeva Zalozba dd Kopitarjeva 2, 1515 Ljubljana, SLOVENIA Telephone: +386 1 432 31 44 • Fax: +386 1 230 14 35 Email: import.books@cankarjeva-z.si • Web site: http://www.mladinska.com/cankarjeva_zalozba

SPAIN

Diaz de Santos, S.A. Librerias Bookshop • Departamento de pedidos Calle Albasanz 2, esquina Hermanos Garcia Noblejas 21, 28037 Madrid, SPAIN Telephone: +34 917 43 48 90 • Fax: +34 917 43 4023 Email: compras@diazdesantos.es • Web site: http://www.diazdesantos.es

UNITED KINGDOM

The Stationery Office Ltd. (TSO) PO Box 29, Norwich, Norfolk, NR3 1PD, UNITED KINGDOM Telephone: +44 870 600 5552 Email (orders): books.orders@tso.co.uk • (enquiries): book.enquiries@tso.co.uk • Web site: http://www.tso.co.uk

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Bernan Associates 4501 Forbes Blvd., Suite 200, Lanham, MD 20706-4391, USA Telephone: +1 800 865 3457 • Fax: +1 800 865 3450 Email: orders@bernan.com • Web site: http://www.bernan.com

Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd.

812 Proctor Avenue, Ogdensburg, NY 13669, USA Telephone: +1 888 551 7470 • Fax: +1 888 551 7471 Email: orders@renoufbooks.com • Web site: http://www.renoufbooks.com

United Nations

300 East 42nd Street, IN-919J, New York, NY 1001, USA Telephone: +1 212 963 8302 • Fax: 1 212 963 3489 Email: publications@un.org • Web site: http://www.unp.un.org

Orders for both priced and unpriced publications may be addressed directly to:

IAEA Publishing Section, Marketing and Sales Unit, International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna International Centre, PO Box 100, 1400 Vienna, Austria Telephone: +43 1 2600 22529 or 22488 • Fax: +43 1 2600 29302 Email: sales.publications@iaea.org • Web site: http://www.iaea.org/books

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA ISBN 978-92-0-106514-8 ISSN 1995-7807